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NOTES m QUERIES.

HISTORICAL AND GENEALOGICAL.

NOTES AND QUERIES—CLXYVIIL

McQueeN.—John McQueen, of Derry, owned a saw mill on Cone-
wago creek, a short distance from Capt. Thomas Harris. He died -
in 1770, leaving a wife, Susanna, and the following children:

t. [A4 daughter], m. John Fleming.
i. Josiah.
it5. Sarah, m. Abraham Scott.
tv. Rachel.
v. Margaret.
vi. Robert.
vii. David.
The descendants of this family probably went to North Carolina.

THE LANCASTER HAMILTONS.—I.

TaE FAMILY oF LEACOCK TowNsHIP.

WirLLiam HamivTon, the pioneer settler of this name, located in
Leacock township, Lancaster county, about the year 1733. I find his
name upon the records as owning land adjoining Hattel Varner, who
owned the land at and around now Leacock Meeting House along
the old Philadelphia and Lancaster road, about eleven miles east
from Lancaster, asearly asthe year 1734. On April 11,1749, William
Hamilton and Jane, his wife, sold two hundred and six acres of land
in Leacock township to Philip Eackert, the land having been patented
to John Herr in 1734. The land upon which Mr. Hamilton resided,
and owned, adjoined Leacock Meeting House on the east, and ex-
tended across the old road, then known as the “ King’s Highway,”
the Mansion House being near the head of a small strenm, which ran
in a northerly direction and emptied into Mill crcek. This land was
purchased from Hattel Varner or his son John.



2 Notes and Queries.

Mr. Hamilton continued to follow agricultural pursuits exclusivel
down to August 29, 1767. He was a prominent member of Leacoc
Presbyterian church. On August 29, 1767, he purchased the tavern
and twenty acres of land adjoining his farm from Robert Clinch,
which was known in provincial times as the sign of the * Three
Crowns.” This was qart of the John Varnertract. During the Rev-
olution, when Colonel Lowrey’s militia marched from Donegal to
Chester, in the summer of 1777, they made a target of the old sign.
This old emblem of royalty was taken down. 1ereafter, while the
tavern was owned and conducted by the Hamillons, it was known
as the “Brick Tavern.”

Mr. Hamilton was an ardent patriot, and was conspicuous in his
efforts in behalf of the Continental cause. Being well advanced in

ears, he was not able to endure the hardships of a military life ; but
Ke had stalwart sons, who enlisted in the army. His son, Col.
James Hamilton rose from the ranks to a high Bosition in the army.
. He became the progenitor of a very distinguished family in South
Carolina. William Hamilton died in January, 1782. His tender
regard for his son James, who was with the army in the South, was
shown when he wrote his will. He devised a farm to each of his
sons Hugh, William, John, and Robert. At this time he did not
know whether James was living or not, and fearing he might return
to his home a maimed soldier, and unable to make a comfortable
living, gave him two thousand pounds.

He left surviving him his wife Jane, and children as follows :

" 4. Hugh.
1. William. )
#i1. John, d. upon the farm in Leacock inherited from his
father, prior to the decease of his brother.
1. James.
v. Robert.
vi. Jane, m. Joel Baker.
vii. Ann, m. James Wallace.
viit. Nancy, m. Thomas Wade.

He also mentions a sister Mary. Col. James Mercer was a witness
to the will.

Jane, the widow of Mr. Hamilton, married, secondly, John Wilson,
Sr., who was a widower and had several grown-up sons, one of whom,
John, Jr., married Jane Hamilton, daughter of Robert Hamilton,
Mrs. Jane Wilson’s own granddaughter. June Wilson died in the

ear 1808. In her will she mentions the following : Granddaughter
Ann Witmer, Granddaughter Jane, dau. of Robert Hamilton; Grand-
daughter Jane Weaver, Grandson John Hamilton, son of William



Historical and Genealogical. 8

Hamilton. She names the following sons by her former husband :
Hugh, William, John, Robert, Jane, and her stepson, Robert Will-
son, and her grandson, Hugh Wallace, Eeq.

Huere Hamirton (son of William), born 1760, died in 1804, intes-
tate, leaving a widow and nine children. On the 14th day of Janu-
ary, 1805, Hugh Hamilton, his oldest sun, came into court and asked
to have viewers appointed to appraise and decide, if possible, the de-
ceased’s farm of two hundred and seventeen acres. This farm ad-
joined the estate of John Hamilton, deceased (who was a brother of
ilugh Hamilton, Sr.) In the petition of Hugh Hamilton, Jr., his
brothers and sisters are named in the following order:

1. Hugh.
#. William.
iit. Jane.
. Sarah.
v. James.
vi. Robert.
vit. John.
viii, Lisle.
iz. Margaret.
Huer Hamirton Sson of Hugh, son of William), married IsABELLA
Knrox, and had children:
i. Lyle.
1. Sally.
tii. Robert.
tv. Margaret.
v. William.
vi. John.

Of this latter family William became the most prominent. He
grew up on his father’s farm in Leacock, and was sent during the
winter months to the common schools of the neighborhood. At the
age of sixteen he went to labor among the farmers of the neighbor-
hood, and this continued until he attained the age of twenty-five
years. After which he filled the ({)osition of supervisor on the old
Columbia and Philadelphia railroad when yet owned by the State, in
Paradise township, extending a distance of several miles. This posi-
tion he held for five years. On February 29, 1848, he married
Louisa Slaymaker, daughter of Henry and Susan Slaymaker, of Para-
dise township, and soon thereafter took up his residence in Williams-
town, along the Philadelphia and Lancaster turnpike and a few
miles from the place of his birth. This village was the place of resi-
dence of several of the Slaymaker families, and within a mile of
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Mathias Slaymaker, the pioneer settler of the family. Mr. Hamilton
inherited his faith in Democracy from his ancestors, who were all
opposed to the Federal party. He did not experience a change of
heart in political faith until 1855, when he became a candidate for
the State Legislature on the Know-Nothing ticket, and was elected
and re-elected in 1856. Thenceforward he became a prominent
member of the Republican party, and was elected a State legislator in
1860 on the ticket with John A. Hiestand, now a member of Congress
from the Lancaster district. He was in the L?islature during the
trying period of the war of the Rebellion, and rendered valuable
aid to the Union cause. Few men in his county had the influence
he held among his neighbors. His will was theirs, and he used it
with effect when it became necessary. His wife, nee Slaymaker, died
February 22, 1857, leaving five children, namely :
1. Iu;)bcua-a, m., in 1885, Dr. Hugh ﬁamilton, of Harris-
urg.

1. Mary-%l., m. John Boreland, of Salisbury township.

13i. John (deceased).

iv. Elizabeth-Slaymaker.

v. Louisa.

In 1868 he married, secondly, Ann Lemer, widow of O. J. Bailey,
of Harrisburg, Pa., who survived. Mr. Hamilton was stricken with
paralysis several years before his death, which occurred a year or
two ago.

JouN HawmivLtoN, the son of the first William Hamilton, who died
in 11803, upon the farm in Leacock township, left the following
family :

Y 1. Jane, m. Adam Weaver.
4. Ann, m. John Wallace.
wt. William.
. Margaret.
v. Thomas.

Jane and her husband, Adam Weaver (house carpenter), accepted

the mansion farm at the appraisement.

CoL. JaMEs HamirToN (son of William Hamilton) was unquestion-
ably the most distinguished member of this more than ordinar
family. He was born upon the paternal farm in 1757, in Leacock
township. He was probably one of the classical scholars of the Rev.
Robert Smith, at Pequea church. When the tocsin of war sounded
at Massachusetts Bay his heart was fired with patriotic zeal before he
attained his majority. On March 16, 1776, he was enrolled as a sec-
ond lieutenant in (%;pt. John Murray’s company of riflemen in the
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Second Battalion of Colonel Miles’ regiment. He must have shown
an aptitude for military affairs to an unusual degree in one so young
to be placed in the line of officers. In his future career he demon-
strated the wisdom of the selection. He was in active service in the
Jerseys, and participated in the ca npaign there. He was in the hot-
test of the fight on Long Island in August, taken prisoner, and not
exchanged until November 2, 1777. For gallant conduct in this ac-
tion in September, 1778, he was promoted to a captaincy in the Fifst
Pennsylvania, commanded by Col. James Chambers (who subse-
quently married a Miss Hamilton). On December 10, 1778, he was
promoted to major of the Second Pennsylvania regiment of the Line,
commanded by Col. Walter Stewart. In May, 1780, he commanded
a detachment, and, as senior major, his battalion at Yorktown, which
which was in General Wayne’s command.

After the surrender of Cornwallis General Wayne with his brigade
was sent to the relief of Charleston, and Major Hamilton was in ser-
vice there when peace was declared. When there he met Miss Eliza-
beth Lynch, sister of Thomas Lynch, Jr., one of the signers of the
Declaration of Independence from South Carolina. They were mar-
ried, and for years they lived upon his plantation on the Santee.
For some time prior and at the time of his death he resided in the
city of Charleston. Among other children he had a son James, who
was born in Charleston May 8, 1786, and became one of the most dis-
tinguished of the many prominent men of the Palmetto State. He
received a collegiate education and graduated with high honors. His
father had in view the profession of law for his son, but he preferred
a military life and entered the army, serving with great credit as a
mnjor in the Canadian campaign under Scott and Brown in 1812.
The battles there were the hottest and better contested on both sides
than any others during that war.

After the war he commenced the study of the law with James L.
Petigrew. For several years in succession Major Hamilton was chosen
the chief officer in Charleston, which corresponds to that of Mayor in
northern cities. He displayed eminent abilities in this position, which
brought him into prominence. In 1822 he discovered the Vesey con-
spiracy to raise an insurrection among the slaves. In the same year
he was elected to the State Legislature, where he at once distinguished
himself as a debator. He was chosen a representative to Congress in
1824 and in 1826. He espoused the doctrines of free trade and advo-
cated direct taxation. He believed in the duelling code, and was
Randolph’s second in his duel with Henry Clay, and second to Gov-
ernor McDuffie in his duel with Colonel Cummings, of Georgia, and
occupied the same position upon other similar occasions. He was a
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strong partisan of General Jackson, and in 1828, when he became
Presisent. he offered him the post of Minister to Mexico, with au-
thority to negotiate the annexation of Texas. This he declined. He
uitted Congress to become Governor of South Carolina in 1830, at
319 interesting period when his State resolved to nullify the Federal
tariff laws. & became a “nullifier,” and was one of the ablest ad-
vocates of “State Rights.” The war breeze kicked up in South Caro-
lina caused great excitement throughout the country, and was not
entirely allayed until the compromise of Henry Clay was brought
about, when Mr. Hamilton retired from public life, and devoted him-
self to the care of his plantation. In a few years he became ardently
interested in the cause of Texas, to which he gave his personal ser-
vices,and a large portion of his private fortune. In 1841, while Texas
was an Independent Republic, he was the Minister to England and
France, where he procured the recognition of her independence. On
the death of John C. Calhoun, in 1852, he was appointed hissuccessor
in the U. S. Senate, but declined the office for domestic reasons. In
his efforts in behalf of Texas he expended his fortune and he became
involved in pecuniary difficulties, which harrassed the latter years of
his life. He was on his way to Texas to seek indemnification for his
losses, when'he perished by a collision between the steamboats Gal-
veston and O ﬁ)usas, in the latter of which he was a passenger.
With his usual courtesy he yielded his own chance of safety to a lady
among the passengers, to whom he was an entire stranger. His con-
duct was in sharp contrast to that of a prominent lawyer in Lancas-
ter, who witnessed his wife’s struggles in the Hudson river at the
Henry Clay disaster without making a supreme effort to save her life.
Mr I-familton was esteemed by his native State as one of her greatest
citizens. S. P. Hamilton, who resides at Chester, South Carolina, is a
son. Governor Hamilton had a brother Robert, who moved to the
West, and it is supposed that Governor Hamilton, of Illinois, was one
of his descendants.
Roserr HaMiLTON was the youngest son of William Hamilton, and
inherited a large farm and the “ Brick Tavern” from his father. He
married Margaret Wilson, and had two children, John and Jane.

JouN HaMiLTON, the son of Robert, just named, married Elizabeth
Baker, sister of Joel Baker, and daughter of Jacob Baker. He in-
herited his father’s farm and the “ Brick Tavern,” which he continued
to keep until a few years after the war of 1812. They were the parents
of twelve children. He sold his farm and purchased that of Dr. Car-
penter, below Bainbridge, where he farmed a few years, when he re-
moved to the large stone tavern at the ferry at Bainbridge, built by
Col. Bertram Galbraith. He continued there until the completion of
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the Columbia and Philadelphia railroad, when he was appointed by
the canal commissioners weighmaster in Columbia, to which place
he removed. He died suddenly soon after his appointment in Co-
lumbia, and left surviving his wife Elizabeth and children:

8. Wilson, m. Barbara Kenny. of Bainbridge. Both are liv-
ing in Columbia. Their only daughter, Josephine, is
living with them.

41. Elizabeth, m. Henry Horst, of Conoy township.

tii. Margaret, living in Columbia.

. Paul, for many years was engaged either as passenger
agent or dprornetaor of passenger car line from Columbia
to Philadelphia, and subsequently a heavy contractor in
construction of union canalsand railroads to avoid planes
on the mountains. Died some years ago in Columbia;
unm.

v. Robert, m. Caroline Myers, of Columbia, leaving her a
widow and one child, Callie, both living.

vi. Jacod, m. Miss Sarah Kating.

vit. Hannah.
viit. Charlotte.
iz. James.

z. Leah-Jane.

zit. Lavina.

JANE HaMILTON, sister of the last mentioned, married Joel Baker,
who became owner and lived upon one of the Hamilton farms at the
“Brick Tavern”in Leacock township. Two of their children, Joel
and Anna, are residing at Dayton, Ohio. BAMUEL EVANS.

Columbia, Pa.

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXVIIL

McALLIsTER-W1L8oN.—Rose McAllister, widow of John McAllister,
of North Carolina, daughter of Joseph Wilson, of Derry, d. in 1769.
She left children:

i. Grizel.
1. Elizabeth.
tii. Jean.

She had a step-daughter Ma?'. James Walker and John Camp-
bell were witnesses to the will, and James McAllister and John
Walker executors thereof. What is known of this family of Mec-
Allisters. R. V. P.
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THE LANCASTER HAMILTONS.—II.

THE FAMILY oF LEacock TowNsHIP.

James Hamirrox settled upon and owned several hundred acres of
land in Leacock township, adjoining William Hamilton’s on the
south, about the year 1760. Although I have no positive proof of
any relationship between this family and that of William Hawmilton,
his neighbor, I am inclined to think from all the surrounding cir-
cumstances that they were of the same kin.

In 1773 James Hamilton was appointed one of the overseers of the
poor for Leacock township, and in 1779 he was chosen constable of
the same township, and in 1781 supervisor of theroads. These offices
in provincial times were filled by the most active and prominent free-
hol‘:iers in their respective districts, as well as during the revolutionary
period. I find also that many of those who attained distinction in
the army, or held civi}i?ositions of prominence, at one time or another
occupied one of the offices just named.

h._Ilt:,imes Hamilton died in 1807, and left surviving the following
children:

I. WirLiam Hamirron. To him his father gave a farm. He was
a “ miller,” and perhaps a fuller also. On April 1, 1799, he purchased
a grist and merchant mill, including fifty-four acres of land in Lam-
peter township, along the south side of the Lancaster and Philadel-
%hia turnpike, about four miles east of Lancaster, from Benjamin

uckwalter; and in 1801 purchased ten acres from Mr. Buckwalter,
which adjoined the other tract. During or just prior to the war of
1812, Mr. Hamilton, in connection with his brother James, established
a “cotton mill.” About fifty-eight years ago Mr. Hamilton died in-
testate, leaving a widow am{ chﬁdren, as follows:

. Margaret, m. Johu C. Culbertson.
1. Matilda.
i1, Jane.
w. William.
v. Hays.
vi. Sarah.
vit. Mary, m. James Porter.

The real estate was valued at $16,000. On April 1, 1842, James
Porter and his wife Mary sold the mill and land adjoining to Benja-
min Eshleman, father of B. F. Eshleman, a prominent member of the
Lancaster bar, and a candidate for Congress under the Republican
rules. .
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This family was highly respectable, and intermarried with some of
the best families in the country. While Mr. Hamilton lived his hos-
pitable mansion was the resort of many of the most prominent men
of the State who came to Lancaster during the sessions of the Legis-
lature. At that period Lancaster was the most fashionable place out-
side of Philadelphia. I know of no descendants of this family now
living in Lancaster county.

II. James HamiLToN. He also received a farm adjoining that of.
his brother William, in Leacock township, adjoining lands of Col
Nathaniel Watson, and the Harniltons of the * Brick Tavern.” He
learned the milling business with his brother William, and resided
with him prior to his marriage. In 1803 or 1804 he married Poll
Elliot, daughter of Daniel Elliot, the Indian trader, and Elizabet
Lowrey, daughter of Col. Alexander Lowrey, at the homestead of
Colonel Lowrey, in Donegal township, now owned by Col. James
Duffy. This marriage tuok place a year or two prior to the death of
Samuel Evans, Esq., which was in April, 1805. On May 19, 1813, Mr.
Hamilton sold his Leacock farm to Andrew Hagerty, « merchant,
who resided in Chartiers township, Washington county, Pa., for $10,-
000. In a few days thereafter Hagerty sold the land to Samuel Clen-
denin. Mr. Hagerty also purchased about the same time a farm ad-
joining the Hamilton farm, which belonged to the Watsons, which he
sold to Michael Musselman. There must have been some connection
between Mr. Hagerty and the elder Hamilton; both owned large
tracts of lands in Washington county. At or about the time Mr.
Hamilton married Miss Elliot he purchased the grist mill and farm
on the Swatara at Middletown. He also erected a furnace there.
He owned a farm on the “ Knob ” near that town. He helped to es-
tablish the Swatara Bank there, was its first president, and became
one of the most prominent and active business men in Dauphin
county. He subsequently sold his mill property there and pur-
chased a mill and farm at the mouth of Letort’s spring, Cumberland
county, then known as the Middlesex estate, consisting of a valuable
water power, merchant mill, saw mill and distillery, with farm con-
taining one hundred and sixty acres of land, in the year 1827. He
lived two years after his removal to Cumberland county, and left sur-
viving him his wife Mary, and the following children:

i. Alexander, b. 1800.
ti. William, b. October 5, 1811, who received a collegiate
education, and removed to Pittsburgh with his mother
after her second marriage.
1it. Sarah.
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w. John.

v. Qeorge-Plumer, b. May 4, 1818, at Middletown, Dauphin
county. He entered Washington College, and after
completing hiseducation went to Pittsburgh and entered
the law office of the late Richard Biddle. After his ad-
mission to the bar at once settled into a good practice.
In 1860 he entered into a partnership with Marcus
Acheson, subsequently judge of the United States Dis-
trict Court. This partnership was dissolved in 1867
owing to the declining health of Mr. Hamilton, brought
on by excessive work. After a short retirement his
health was restored and he resumed his practice, and
for fifteen years thereafter he was the leader of the bar
in Allegheny county. Mr. Hamilton possessed in an
eminent degree the elements of professional success.
He had in addition to oratorical acquirements great
powers of analysis, to which were added untiring labori-
ousness and industry, with a remarkable capability for
sustained mental effort. He was a person of iron will,
of fearless judgment, possessing at all times the courage
of his convictions. He had a very large and profitable
practice. In 1880 he retired from practice and removed
to Philadelphia, where he died in November, 1882, sur-
rounded by his family. He left a daughter, then the
widow of Henry Patterson, another the wife of Mr. Fel-
ton, of Boston, a railroad manager, and George P. Ham-
ilton, now a member of the Pittsburgh bar, who married
Miss Letitia Holmes, of Allegheny, and who occupies a
Erominent position at the bar and will do credit to an

onored ancestor. '

III. Jenner HaMILTON, married a Mr. Mcllvain.
IV. MARGARET HAMILTON.

V. Mary HamirtoN. She m. Dr. Samuel Humes, an eminent
physician and a veg prominent person in Lancaster. In connec-
tion with William Hamilton, his brother-in-law, he owned a cotton
factory on the Buckwalter farm, and at one time the cotton factory
on the Conestoga at the southeastern section of Lancaster city.
Among other children they had:

1. Hamilton. ’
1. Elizabeth.
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V1. ErizaBera HAMILTON, married (nameunknown)and had issue:
i. Hamilton.
1. Mary.
iis. Elizabeth.
Her father gave her several hundred acres of land near Dunkard
creek, in Washington county, Pa.

VII. SArRAH HaMIiLTON married a Mr. Porter.

M Hamilton, widow of James Hamilton, the second, married
secondly, Col. Robert Stewart, a prominent lawyer of Pittsburgh. She
was a lady of a great deal of character. I will give one instance out
of the usual course as an illustration : One of her sons, William or
George, was sent to college, and for some reason ran away and re-
turned to the paternal mansion in Cumberland county. His mother
advised him to return to his school at once, but he could neither be
coaxed or driven away by the ordinary methods, when she concluded
to adopt the heroic plan. She deliberately took down a gun from its
rack and ordered her disobedient son off the premises, and followed
him with the gun until he was clear out of the place, and told him
she would not permit him to return until he completed his college
course. Young Hamilton deemed discretion his best course to pur-
sue, and he returned to college much wiser than when he left. He
became a great lawyer.

Danier Ecrviorrt, the father of Mary Hamilton, was an Indian
trader and probably at first in the employ of Col. Alexander Lowrey.
He married Elizabeth Lowrey, born October 31, 17567, daughter of
Colonel Lowrey, in the year 1772. He purchased a farm of several
hundred acres of land in the same year at the mouth of Conewago
creek, in Londonderry township, from Joseph Galloway, the Tory,
and also three hundred acres of the lower part of the Big Island, op-
posite Conewago, which is now owned by Col. James Duffy. For some
years he had his trading post on this island ; subsequently establish-
Ing a store and post near Pittsburgh, in connection with his father-in-
law. Hedied there. The oldest son, John-Elliott, inherited the Island
farm, which became one of the most valuable shad fisheries along the
river. He removed to Elizabethtown, where he owned a number of
houses. He was an officer in the war of 1812. He married Miss
Coble, hissecond wife, by whom he had several children, one of whom,
Mrs. John Haldeman, of Conoy township, is now living. They have
several children. SAMUEL EVARS.

Columbia, Pa.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXIX.

SpaYD (N. & Q. clzviti).—In one of the old neglected grave-yards
in Middletown, two years ago, was this inscription:

Susanna ?;ayd, | daughter of Conrad Schwarz | and wife Anna Maria
| born in Lancaster 26 Jan., 1777, | married Christian Spayd | S30th
May, 1805, | died August 9, 1805 | of nervous fever.

Orp Roaps—Hon. Edward McPherson is publishing some very
interesting and valuable historical notes in the Star and Sentinel of
Gettysburg, concerning early roads west of the Susquehanna. From
the Lancaster county court records he gleaned the following :

1748, May 4—Whereas it pleased the honorable Court last Nov'r to
twpt Robert McClure, Hance Hamilton, Peter Wilkins, John Corvel,
illiam Baley, and Benjamin Chambers to view and lay out a road
from the Walnut Bottom the best and nearest way to Lancaster. Now
Hance Hambleton, John Corvel and Benjamin Chambers will not be
at the pains to assist in lay-oute the said rode, therefore we humbly
pray the honorable Court to lay out the sd rode and we ye humble

petitioners shall for you pray. RoBERT MCCLURE,

' PeETER WILKINS,
WiLLiaM BaILEy.

1748, May 17—Robert McClure, Peter Wilkins, William Baley,
Robert Duning, Jon. Lockard and Patrick Carson, were appointed to
lay out the road. RicHARD CAIN,

JoHN RANNELS,
Jon. Hay, Judges.

1742, August §—Thos. Wilkins represents that the road has been
taken to Nathan Hussy’s where there is no established ferry and ye
getitioner lives at an established ferry. He requests that other viewers

e app’d. James Crawford, Jno. Bonnet, Jno. Noblet, Jno. Hendricks,
Joseph Green and Thos. Reilly were app’d, any four of whom could act.

Tge result was that the road was laid out from Walnut Bottom,

near Cumberland county, across the Yellow Breeches creek at the

resent site of Lisburn, to Nathan Hussey’s Ferry near Goldsboro,

0 miles; and iu the next year the road was extended from Hussey's
Ferry to Thomas Wilkins’ Ferry over the Susquehanna below the
mouth of the Conewago creek, 74 miles. So that both interests were
made happy. Hussey’s Ferry, if not established in 1742 as claimed,
was started in 1740 and many of the Quaker immigrants westward
crossed the river at it.
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THE LANCASTER HAMILTONS.—III.

TaE FaMiLy oF SarLisBury TownNsHIP.

Two brothers, William and James Hamilton, similar to those of
Leacock, were the pioneer settlers of the name who became residents
of the township of Salisbury. Of the two, I assumed that the former
was the first who located here, and the elder of the two, and of him
I shall first write. :

WicLiaM Hamirrox was born in 1712, and died upon his farm
June 11, 1794, aged eighty-two years. His wife Jane died in 1734,
aged seventy-one years. His dauihter Catharine, died in 1787, aged
thirty-five years, all of whom are buried at Pequea church adjoining -
each other.

These brothers located about the same time that the Hamiltons of
the “ Brick Tavern” settled in Leacock, and were about the samne

I presume they were first cousins. The families were unques-
tionably related in the second and third generations, whether by mar-
riage then or of a previous generation I cannot tell. If the way seems
clear I will point out the relationship before I close the family sketches.
In the year 1744 or 1745 William Hamilton moved to the farm con-
taining four hundred and sixteen acres of land, which belonged to
the estate of Stephen Cole, located along Pequea creek, in Salisbury
townshiﬁ. On May 8, 1746, he purchased the whole of the greater
part of this tract of land from Martha Cole, of the borough of Chester,
and widow of Stephen Cole, for $300. The deed recites that Mr.
Hamilton was then living upon the land. He remained upon this
farm fifty years. He also owned half of the mill and land on Pequea
creek at the western boundary of Salisbury township, which he sold
to John Houston in 1769. l'ile was the father of several sons, who
became prominent officers in the Revolutionary army. Mr. Hamil-
ton was chosen overseer of the poor in 1763 for his township and in
1772 supervisor of roads. He was a prominent member of Pequea
church, to which he bequeathed thirty pounds. It is probable that
at the time of his decease he had outlived several of his children. In
his will he mentions his brother James and his son James, and the
following named grandchildren in the same order in which they are

iven:
& Grandson—James Boyd.
Granddaughter—Jean Boyd. .
Granddaughter—Mary Boyd.
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Grandsons—John Watson and William Watson.
Granddaughters—Mary Watson and Margaret Watson.
Grandsons—Nathaniel Watson and James Watson.
Granddaughters—Margaret Hamilton and Jean Hamilton.
Grandson—James Hamilton.

Granddaughters—Catharine Hamilton and Mary Hamilton.
Grandsons—Thomas Boyd Hamilton and William Hamilton.
Grandson—William Boyd.

James HamirtoN, of Salisbury, and brother of William Hamilton
of the same township, seems to have settled near Pequea creek in
Lampeter township. He married, first, Catharine Carrigan, daughter
of Patrick Carrigan, of Leacock township, who owned three hundred
and fifty-two acres of land which was divided between Mrs. Hamilton
and her sister, Jane Coats, who married Jonathan Coats. William
Carrigan died in 1761. January 16,1765, James Hamilton purchased
one hundred and eigl?ty-one acres of land from Isaac Richardson, in
Salisbury township, known as the “ Bull's Head.” It is probable that
this once famous tavern was built by Mr. Hamilton. He was the pro-
prietor for fifty years. In the year 1772 he purchased another farm
adjoining, containing one hundred and eighty acres. A few years
after his decease the tavern and several humfredy acres were purchased
by “King” “Tommy” Henderson when he changed the name of the
tavern to “ Waterloo.” Although no longer a tavern the place is
known as“ Waterloo,” and is thus marked on the county maps. Mr.
Henderson some years ago sold two hundred acres, with the old tav-
ern, to Col. Nathaniel Burt, who made some additions to the old
house, and now occupies it in the summer. The rest of the Hamil-
ton land in that vicinity, containing about one hundred and thirty
acres, Mr. Henderson sold to F. T. Fasset, who built an elegant resi-
dence upon it. It is now owned by Capt. Winfield S. Kennedy. Mr.
Hamilton also owned several farms in Chester county a short distance
from his residence.

In 1761 James Hamilton was appointed guardian over the estate
of his nepnew, John Watson, a minor son of David W<tson, the latter
having married a daughter of his brother, William Hamilton. At
the same session of the Orphans’ Court, James Boyd was appointed
guardian over the estate of Janet Watson, a sister of JoLn.

In 1780 Mr. Hamilton was chosen overseer of the poor for Salis-
bury, and in 1793 supervisor of the roads, and in 1795 constable of
the township. By his first wife he had four children :

1. gV'illiam.
. Jane, m.

Cochran ; she received a farm of eighty
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acres along the old Philadelphia and Lancaster road,
and along the road which led to the “ Old Forge.”

tit. Catharine, m. George Jenkins, of Chester county; she re-
ceived a farm of eighty acres; this family moved to the
west.

w. James.

Mr. Hamilton married, secondly, about the year 1786, Margaret
Boyd, daughter of George Boyd, of Salisbury. George Boyd’s wife
was Mary Douglass, daughter of Archibald Douglass. By his second
wife Mr Hamilton had issue: :

v. Mary, m. John Clark, son of Brice Clark, who owned and
resided upon the farm in Donegal, now owned by J.
Donald Cameron. They had three children, two of
whom arrived at the age of maturity, namely:

1. James-Brice, m. Miss Bladen, of Philadelphia;
he died in Lancaster city a few years ago, and
left a widow and several children.

2. John-William m. Elizabeth Zell, a great-grand
daughter of Col. Alex. Lowrey ; they purchased
the mansion farm of the latter heirs, which
they subsequently sold to Col. James Duffy;
both are deceased, and left several children :

vi. George-Boyd, m. Lucinda Humes, daughter of James
Humes, who owned the cotton factery near Lancaster,
on the Conestoga. He received a large estate from his
father and mother and ten thousand dollars from two
maiden aunts, the Misses Boyd. He built a furnace in
Venango coun:.iy, which he named * Lucinda” in honor
of his wife, and engaged in other speculations, which
proved disastrous, and in a few years he lost his entire
estate and died about fifteen years ago very r.
Among other children a son, James-H.,and a daughter,
Margaret, settled at Fort Smith, Arkansas. Only a few
weeks their dwelling and furniture were totally de-
stroyedaio fire.

James Hamilton died in 1815, and his wife, Margaret, died in 1812.
They had also a son, Thomas Douglass, who died in his minority.

SAMUEL EVANS.
Columbia, Pa.
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EARLY SUSQUEHANNA NAVIGATION.

CRUISE OF THE ILL-FATED STkAMBOAT BEARING THE NAME OF THE
RivER—CONTEMPORANEOUS ACCOUNT OF HER DESTRUCTION.

More than sixty years ago, before the advent of canals and rail-
roads, the enterprising merchants of Baltimore comprehended the
importance to their material business interests of Eicilitating the
mode of tmnsgortation of the lumber, grain, iron and whiskey trade
of the Susquehanna Valley, then an important factor in the home
traffic of that city, lying so conveniently at the lower extremity of
Pennsylvania’s rich agriculture and mineral center. Large sums of
money had been ex?ended in removing obstructions in the rocky
channel of our noble (but rapid and impracticable for navigation)
river below Columbia, so as to admit the passage of arks an§a rafts
down stream on their way to tide. A canal had been constructed
from Port Deposit, northward, in order that these up-river crafts
might avoid the shoals and dangerous reefs of the first ten miles
above tide water, after the spring freshets had subsided, but as yet
there was no satisfactory way of returning to the producers of incom-
ing commerce such articles of merchandise as they would naturally
require in return for their new products of forest, field and mine.

t was decided to make the attempt to establish steamboat naviga-
tion on the river in order to overcome this serious obstacle in the
way of exchange commerce. The first attempt at steamboat navi-
gation above tide water was made in 1825. A small steamboat named
the Susquehanna, had been built in Baltimore and towed up to Port
Deposit in the spring of the year. The first mention we have in the
. newspapers of the day is found in the Harrisburg Chronicle, which

says:

XThe Susquehanna was expected at Columbia on Sunday night.
Tuesday’s reports were that she had not got to Columbia. Eye-wit-
nesses to her progress put the matter to rest on Wednesday; they
had seen her a short distance above the head of the Maryland canal
with a posse of men tugging at the ropes, and when they had tugged
nine miles gave up the job. So ended all the romance about the
Susquehanna. She drew too much water (22 inches) for the purpose
and started at the wrong point. Watermen say that the crookedness
of the channel, with the rapidity of the current, makes it utterly im-
possible for a steamboat to ascend the falls between the head of the
canal and Columbia.”
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If any of our readers, in their boyhood ddys, ever engaged in the
arduous, though exciting, labor of “running to tide” on lumber
rafts, and then tramping back over Lancaster hills for a fresh start
next morning, they will appreciate the force of the above editorial re-
mark. For further particulars apply to W. N. Jennings, whilom
river pilot through Turkey Hill, Barger’s reef, Eshelman’s sluice, etec.

The Chronicle article says further: “ We have a report that Mr.
Winchester, of Baltimore, has contracted for the building of a steam-
boat at York Haven. We also learn that the York Company are
making great progress with the sheet-iron steamboat, and that she
will be launched about the 4th of July.

This sheet-iron boat was called the Codorus, and early in April of
the next year ascended the river as far as Binghampton, after which
she returned to York Haven, her captain, a Mr. Elger, reporting that
navigation of the Susquehanna by steam was impracticable.

Some of our older citizens [of Wilkes-Barre] doubtless remember to
have seen her lying moored to the shore about abreast of the present
Market street sewer, and how the men, women and children of the
old borough gathered on the common to admire so great a triumph
in the art of marine architecture, and enjoy a ride to Forty Fort and
return on the wonderful craft.

As regards the boat said to have been contracted for by Mr. Win-
chester, there seems to be some mystery. We find other newspaper
mention of her saying that she was almost completed and woul(P goon
be ready to take to the water, and yet there is no certainty of her
ever having been used in any way on the river. And again, we are
not informed that the Susquehanna ever succeeded in passing the
rapids below Columbia, and it is difficult to see how she could, and
yet Mr. Pearce in his “ Annals of Luzerne,” says the Susquehanna
was the identical boat that exploded her boiler at Berwick the next
spring, while the Maryland commissioners in their official report

ve the name as the Susquehanna and Baltimore. It is just possible
that the fatal explosion may have occurred on board Mr. Win-
chester’s boat of that name, and that the original Susquehanna never
succeeded in getting through the lower rapids.

The Susquehann and Baltimore, say the Maryland Commissioners,
was built in the spring of 1825 (the Susquehanna was on the river in
early spring) at the expense of a number of citizens of Baltimore, for
the express purpose of making an experiment to navigate the waters
of the léusquehamm above the Conewago Falls, and was placed under
the care of Captain Cornwell (Pearce says Collins), an experienced
river pilot; she was accompanied on her trial trip on this portion of
the river by a board of Commissioners of the State of Maryland, Messrs.
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Patterson, Ellicott and Morris, three distinguished citizens of Balti-
more. Captain Cornwell had already in March made several success-
ful trips as far up as Northumberland and Danville on the North
Branch and to Milton on the West Branch and returned to York
Haven without accident. At noon on the 27th of April, 1826, the
boat started for York Haven, having in tow a large keel boat capable
of carrying a thousand bushels of wheat, and proceeded on her fatal
trip, arriving at the Nescopeck Falls at 4 o’clock of May 3. At these
falls there was an outer and an artificial inner channel of shallow
water for the accommodation of the rafts and arks. It was decided
by Captain Cornwell after consulting with other rivermen on board
to try first the main, or deep water channel, as they feared the water
might be too shallow in the artificial channel to allow the boat to
pass. The current is very strong in the main channel, and the cap-
tain argued that if the boat would not stem it that he could then drop
back and try the other one. The beat made a halt in a small eddy
below the falls on the east side of the river and some of the passen-
gers went ashore; this was the case with the Maryland Commissioners.
The boat was directed into the main channel, and had proceeded
perhaps two-thirds of the distance through the falls, when she ceased
to make further progress, the engine was stopped and she was per-
mitted to drift back to the foot of the rapids, where she struck upon a
wall dividing the artificial from the main channel, and at that in-
stant one of her boilers exploded at both sides. The scene was as
awful as the imagination can picture. Two of the passengers on board,
named John Turk and Seber Whitmarsh, raftsmen from Chenango,
N. Y., were thrown into the river where they met with an instant
death, if not by the explosion certainly by drowning in the swift cur-
rent of the river; William Camp, a merchant from gwego, was fatally
scalded by escaping steam. David Rose, of Chenango, N. Y., was also
fatally injured. Quincy Maynary, the engineer, as stated in the ac-
count published in the Danville Watchman one week after the occur-
rence, was not expected to recover. Christian Brobst, of Catawissa,
father of our late townsman S. D. Brobst, and Jeremialh Miller, of
Juniata, were seriously injured. Messrs. Woodside, Colt and Under-
wood, of Danville, were more or less injured, as were Messrs. Barton
Hurley, Foster and Colonel Paxton, of Catawissa, Benjamin Edwards,
of Braintrim, Luzerne county. It wassaid by somebody on board that
at the time of the explosion a passen%er was holding down the lever
of the safety valve, but why this should be done after the boat had
ceased her efforts to pull through is difficult to conjecture. Thus
ended this second attempt to navigate the Susquhanna by steam
power. w. J.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXX,

HaLL, or LoNpoNDERRY.—Sarah Hall, of Londonderry township,
Lancaater county, died in 1777. Her estate she devised to the follow-

ing:
%mnddaughter, Sarah Hall.
Granddaughter, Sarah Candour, daughter of Joseph Candour.
Son-in-law, Jacob Cook, who married Rose Hall.
Son, Samuel Hall.
Son, William Hall.
Granddaughter, Sarah Cook, daughter of Rose and Jacob Cook.
James Huey, Jane Hamilton and Joseph Candour were witnesses
to the will; William Hall and Jacob Cook, executors.

CrAYNE—Hugh Chayne, of East Pennsboro’, Cumberland county,
married a sister of Joseph McClure, of the same township. The lat-
ter died in October, 1784, leaving bequests to his brother-in-law, Hugh
Chayne, and nephew, John Chayne. It has been noted (N. & Q. cxivi)
that the latter married October 24, 1799, Sidney Moffatt. By further
reference we find that John Chayne was accidentally killed October
13, 1800, “leaving a disconsolate widow and distressed mother.”

A RIDE FROM SHANK’S HILL TO HARRISBURG.

Some weeks since a very interesting article appeared in the Middle-
town Press, entitled “ What Jacob Saw on His Travels.” The writer
represented Jacob as a young man making his first journey from
Hummelstown to Harrisburg, describing the farms he passed and
what he could learn of the various owners thereof.

Jacob traveled westward over the turnpike road until he reached
the top of Shank’s hill, where he veered slightly to the left, following
the Chambers’ Ferry road to Harrisburg. We propose to part company
with him at this point and continue on the turnpike rond. Before
proceeding, however, let us stop a moment or so and look about us,
for no finer prospect presents itself to the eye in Central Pennsylvania;
and in order that we may make the most of it, let us tie our horses to
the post in front of Mr. Allwine’s house and walk a few hundred
- yards into the field north of the road.
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To the eastward, almost beneath our feet, flows the winding Swa-
tara, while beyond stretches to the very horizon, the beautiful and
fertile Lebanon Valley, flanked in the distance by the Cornwall hills
twenty miles away. To the right, the course of the Swatara, as it
sweeps along in graceful curves, is visible almost to its confluence
with the Susquehanna, and high above its wooded banks, rises the
bald crest of Round Top, ten miles distant. Here to the left, in that
farm house just below us, where Beaver creek emerges from the hills,
dwelt in times past Samuel Gzell, a man of many gifts. His oppor-
tunities for an education, in the ordinary acceptation of that term,
were 80 limited that it is doubtful whether he ever acquired a knowl-
edge of the alphabet, but as a farmer and shrewd man of business he
was far above the average. He was, moreover, deeply learned in that
mystic lore which has come down the ages by word of mouth in a
ziﬁ-zag course from male to female and from female to male, by
which he was able to do many things, that to the uninitiated looked
like miracles. Turning our eyes westward, a portion of Paxtang
Valley lies before us, with Beaver creek and the hills of Hanover to
the right and the long line of the Blue Mountains from Dauphin to
Indiantown Ga‘) in the distance.

This barren hill upon which we stand was in times long past se-
lected by John Shank and Polly, his wife, as a good place to pitch
their tent. Fortunately for them, they were not dependent solely
u[l>on the product of the soil. Their house—the very one before
which our horses now stand—was a somewhat Public lace; John
was a weaver and Polly acted as collector of tolls for the turnpike
company, and sold cakes and beer to travelers. She was a fearless,
aggressive and eloquent woman, and in these respects overshadowed
her husband, who was a modest, retiring and quiet man. The place
was therefore known to the public as “ Polly Shank’s.” This worthy
couple ended their days here and were succeeded by their son,
Christopher, who used to attend market every Saturday at Harris-
burg, driving a large bald-faced sorrel horse to a Dearborn wagon.
Every man who, as a school boy thirty-five years ago, trudged back
nnd?(’)rth on the turnpike road, holds Christopher Shank in kindly
remembrance. He was generous with his apples and always had
room for another boy in his wagon. About 1g56 Christopher took
the western fever and sold out to Peter Hefflefinger. who in turn
sold to Jonas Allwine, in whose family the property still remains—
Mr. Allwine himself having lately passed away.

Mount, and let us push forward. To the right, as we descend the
hill, lies the ancient home of the Hefflefingers on the banks of Beaver
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creek, now the property of A. Rutherford. That house a little far-
ther west, a half mile distant, was the home of the Zeiders, and only:
lately sold by their descendants to the present owner, Samuel Mahan.
This snug and well appointed house on our left, which stands so close
to the road, was once the “Black Swan” Hotel, built and opened early
in the present century by Frederick Ricker—now used as a farm
house by Simon Webner. Its surroundings have totally changed
within the last thirty years—the extensive sheds and stables and all
the paraphernalia of the old-fashioned country tavern have disap-
peared. The house, which is now white, was originally painted red
with a blue porch, as was also the next house a short distance further
west, where dwelt, years ago, Widow Stahl. This property, upon her
death, was held a long time for sale, for the house was “haunted,” and
buyers were slow to bid; finally John Smith purchased it; he died
about twenty years ago, and Philip Dimler is the present owner.
Carpenters and plasterers are at work renovating the old place.
ere, on the north side of the road, where these ghostlg aPple trees
are growing, once stood the “ Dry Tavern,” a hostelrie built of logs,
for the accommodation of travelers of the olden time. Nota vestige
of it now remains, its lands and apgurtenances having long since
been incorporated in the farm of John Zeider, who lives yonder on
the crest of the ridge to the left. This dwelling on the right, now
owned by a German whose name I cannot recall, was years ago oc-
cupied by Geistwhite, the tailor, who, before the daiys of sewing ma-
i:)hn:]es and ready-made clothing, did the tailoring for the neighbor-
ood.

Now we enter upon the old Stewart property, which stretches west-
ward nearly a mile. Just here, on the eastern edge of the domain,
stood one of those log school houses in which our ancestors, before
the days of free schools, were taught to “ read, write, and cipher,” as
far as “ Double Position,” by those famous Scotch-Irish masters, who
had more to do with the moulding of the early history of the country
than they are usually credited with. Yonder to the right, on the site
of what 13 now the elegant residence of Mr. J. C. Behm, stood the
domicile of the Stewarts, famous in revolutionary times and long af-
terwards for its “ running pump.” About the beginning of the pres-
ent century John Ricker became the owner of the property. The
large brick house which you see standing about ono hundred yards in
front of Mr. Behm'’s residence was erected in 1810 by Mr. Ricker for
the purpose of an inn and used by him as such, with the sign of
“The Two White Horses,” until taverns were no longer required in
the valley. His grandson now occupies it as a farm house. The two
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houses just mentioned, together with that one a little farther west,
half buried in apple trees, each represent different farms carved out
of the original tract and all owned by the descendantsof Mr. Ricker.
Let us ride in to the famous old “ pump ” and slake our thirst with
water, than which no better is to be found on the continent. The
historic “ pump” with its wooden stock has disappeared, and its waters
now flow in a triple stream through iron pipes for the supply of the
different farms; but at Mr. Behm’s house we shall find the old stream

uring from its iron mouth in undiminished volume, notwithstand-
ing the drafts made upon it by the other places.

e are now approaching what, in the early times of the Scotch-
Irish settlement, was the estate of John Wilson, a tract of probably
six hundred acres stretching across the valley from ridge to ridge.
Three good sized farms and portions of three others now comprise
the tract. Upon the death of John Wilson, his landed property de-
scended to his two sons, John and William, whose respective home-
steads you see yonder on the hill to the right. The one, on the site
of which now stands the brick house and white barn with red gables,
fell to John, who was a bachelor, and found housekeeping without a
wife so serious an undertaking that he advised others against it.
Since his day the property has had various owners, the Murrays, the
Furreys, the Otts, the Shuhs, the Pages, and finally Colonel Motter,
of Harrisburg, who now rejoices in its ownership. The present build-
ings were all erected by Jacob Shuh about fifty years ago. The other
—where that white house and barn now stand—was the home of
William Wilson, who married a Rutherford, and who, dying in 1759,
left behind him a widow and three children, one of whom, a son,
John by name, inherited the farm. He, in turn, went the way of all
flesh, leaving no children, and the property passed by purchase to
Jacob Walter. It has since been owned by Eli Hoffinan, Solomon
Landis, who built the present house about 1840, and Abner Ruther-
ford who built the barn in 1863, whose son now occupies the prem-
ises. This depression in the road, on Colonel Motter’s farm, through
which we are now riding, is “ haunted ” ground. Years ago the
whole ridge on our left was covered with a dense forest, which in this
locality reached to the road; and just here, by the side of that giant
oak, was an old lime kiln which was the nightly resort of a club of
disembodied spirits who kept the country side in fear. Thelime kiln
has disappeared, but ghosts are still seen occasionally dancing around
the old tree. The spot is even now a lonely place, and the supersti-
tion connected with it was often utilized by foot-pads, who found the
already half terrified traveler an easy prey. This property on our
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left is & farm struck off from the Wilson tract and belongs to Abner
Rutherford. That ding{ looking building on the road in front of
the house is a blacksmith shop, in which that stalwart son of Vulcan,
John Reed, now swings the sledge—

“ A large and mighty man is he,
With strong and sinewy arms.”

Of his predecessors, we recall Joe Roberts, Peter Carl, Mike Waltz,
Mose Lyter, Peter Bowman, John Books and John Trullinger—all
sturdy workmen, and two of them ministers of the Gospel.

In front of us, on the same side of the road, are the farm buildings
and residence of Abner Rutherford, who began housekeeping there
in 1839, and who, with his venerable neighbor and relative, J. B.
Rutherford, are the last, in this locality, of a notable generation of
men, who in ante bellum days were lonﬁ known as Abolitionists.

To the right lies one of the old Rutherford homesteads. The
buildings, there on the declivity of the hill, are very old, the house
having been erected by John Rutherford about the year 1760, and
the barn by his son William in 1805. This plantation in the time
of John Rutherford comprised about four hundred acres, and like
the Wilson property, which it joined on the west, stretched from
ridge to ridge. Upon the death of John, in 1804, it was divided
between his sons, Samuel and William, the latter receiving the
homestead, now owned by his grandson, W. F. Rutherford. The
western half fell to Samuel, who died in 1833, since when it has been
the property of his son, John B., who, a few years since, erected a
second set of buildings, those on our right, with the windmill tow-
ering above them, where dwells one of his cons.

Halt! there comes a locomotive, and we cannot cross the railroad
until it passes. This is Rutherford station, and that miserable shed
just above the crossing is the station house—a disgrace to the rail-
road company, to the neighborhood and to the nineteenth century.
Well do we remember having heard, in our youthful days, men of
intelligence express the conviction that a railway could never be
built t rouﬁh Paxtang Valley on account of Allison’s hill on the
west and Shank’s hill on the east. To the engineer of to-day such
hills are as nothing, but forty years ago they were formidable bar-
riers. That train which has just p is the 10 a. m. passenger,
forty minutes late, which admonishes us to quicken our pace if we
expect to dine in Harrisburg at twelve. This farmm which we are
approaching has been the homestead of the Grays since 1732. It
was long since divided into four farms. The first brick house on the
ridge to the right, stands upon the site of the original mansion, and
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was lately built by the present owner, J. N. Gray. The other was
erected about ten years ago by the late Samuel Gray on the site of
the old log house, where dwelt Robert Gray, who died in 1848, the
last of the revolutionary soldiers in the valley. It is now owned by
Mrs. Bigham, of Adams county, a granddaughter of Robert Gray.

The brick house on the rising ground to the left stands near the
center of another of the Gray farms, but has been owned for two gen-
erations by the Hockers. This building, by the roadside, stands on
;,)he premises referred to, and is one of Swatara township’s school

ouses.

That brick house and white barn on the hill to the right are the
Emperty of Widow Metz. They are modern, and have no history;

ut the white house and barn just beyond was the ancient dwelling of
the Pancakes. There lived, dyears ago, Peter Pancake, who achieved
distinction by his agility and reckless driving. It is related of him
that he could jump over a five-barred gate with ease, and stand upon
his head on the top of a fence post, getting up and down without dif-
ficulty; and that he sometimes drove two horses to a wagon without
either pole, shafts or brake. Since Mr. Pancake’s time the propert
has passed through various hands and is now owned by James E:y({
of Hl;rrisburg, who has his country residence on the next farm to the
west.

This property to the left, the buildings of which stand on the low

und, is another of the Gray farms, now owned by Josiah Espy, of
arrisburg, whose mother was a Gray.

Here, as we reach the top of the hill, a beautiful scene breaks upon
the view—the ancient domain of the Dickeys—which stretched from
our horses’ feet to Paxtang church, whose steep roof you see rising
among the trees on the hill away to the northwest. That large stone
house which the present owner, Mr. Boyd, has greatly changed, was
the mansion house of the Dickeys, and near by, on t{e site of that
white frame mill, stood their old stone grist mill, known by different
names to every succeeding generation—Dickey’s, Elder’s, Fogle’s,
Kingport’s, Walker’s and Boyd’s mill. These names are indicative
of the various owners. The Dickeys, at an early day, sold out to
Joshua Elder, of Harrisburg, who divided the land into two tracts by
a line running north from the road we are now traveling, and was
succeeded as to the western half by Robert Elder, Philip Dougherty,
James Dougherty and lastly by Artemus Wilhelm, who died only a
few weeks since, and who has occupied it for several years past as a
country residence, greatly altering and beautifying the place.

This farm on our left, whose buildings stand near the road, is a
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portion of what was knowu in revolutionary times as the Mayes’
property, but owned and occupied for two generations bX the Shultzes,
anf:ﬂerward by Samuel 8. Rutherford, whose heirs sold it to the pres-
ent owner, Mr. d.

Here is the toll gate, which we would pass in silence were it
not that the spot has been rendéred classic by the long residence of
Conrad Peck, an eccentric genius who for many years was considered
indispensable to the neighborhood. He was not only singing master-
of the vicinage, but was a finished mechanic—could make or mend
anything. Like most gifted men, Mr. Peck had a violent temper,
which sometimes carried him to extremes, more or less amusing to-
the neighbors. The place has seemed tame since his departure. In -
his old age he went to Michigan and shortly afterwards died.

The neat dwelling to the left is the residence of Miss Margaret
Rutherford, a maiden lady much respected in the valley. And here,
just beside it, on historic ground stands the house of James Walker.
It occupies the site of the Mayes mansion, in which, under the sign
of “The Green Tree,” Jacob Shultz, the younger, opered the first
tavern in the valley. The sign was afterwards changed by John
Bigger to “Swatara Inn.” In the days of stage conches and Conestoga
wagons this was the central point of interest in the locality, and
tradition tells of gatherings, social, political and convivial held here.
8o sober, staid and quiet 18 the scene to-day that the lines of Moore
(ﬂlthougg upon another subject) involuntary force themselves upon
the mind:

“The harp that once through Tara’s halls
The soul of music shed,
Now hangs as mute on Tara's walls
As if that soul were fled.”

There to the left, beyond the creek, is a nest of buildings—frame—
in the midst of which Mr. Kunkel, another son of Vulcan, is
hammering away. Here on the hill are several others, the most con-
spicuous being the residence of J. E. Horstick. The house is note-
worthy as having been the last dwelling place of the late Capt. John
P. Rutherford, one of Paxtang’s foremost men and a soldier of the war
for the Union.

Now, we are directly in front of Old Paxtang church with its an-
cient city of the dead slopeing to the morning sun. It is a beautiful
spot as seen from this point, and still more beautiful is it when
you enter tho grove and walk about its hallowed precincts. With
its history you are doubtless already familiar. That stone mansion
on the extreme southeast corner of the glebe, wedged in between the
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cemetery and the public road, is the parsonage, erected by the con-
%;? ation about thirty-five years ago, now occupied by Rev. A. B.
illiamson.

All the buildings now in view before us, both to the right and left
of the road, stand on the tract upon which Thomas Rutherford—the
ancestor of all the Rutherfords hereabouts—located in 1755. The site
of his house was that of the white cottage behind the orchard on the
left. More than a centulx o—for ’ghomas has been resting in
yonder cemetery one hun and ten years—the property was di-
vided into two tracts, both of which are held by his descendants of
the fifth generation. The owner of the portion over which we are
‘-now traveling, John A. Rutherford, lives in that stone house to
the right. As we pass the orchard and schoolhouse we enter upon
the other portion, now held by the heirs of Samuel 8. Rutherford.
The larﬁe stone building on the bluff to the left is the mansion house,
erected by him about the year 1860 and now occupied by one of his
sons. The brick house and yellow barn on the right is another set of
buildings belonging to the same farm.

Here at the cross roads we enter upon lands which a century ago
belonged to Parson Elder, a man prominent in church and State for
half a century, and preacher at Paxtang from 1738 until his death in
1792. This property, like the one we have just passed, was divided
many years ago into two farms owned respectively by Robert and
Joshua Elder. The stone house on the right was built by Robert
who inherited the eastern half—now owned by J. D. Cameron. The
white house farther along on the same side of the road was the man-
sion house of the original farm. It was built by Parson Elder and
occupied by him during the greater portion of his life. It fell to the
portion of Joshua Elder whose grandnephew John is the present
owner. The brick house to the left is modern and belongs to a brother
of the latter.

You asked about that splendid structure away to the left? That is
the Dauphin County Almshouse, and that Pu uiland hammering,
just beyond the railroad, is caused by Colonel McCormick’s steatu
drill in the quarry, from which the supply of limestone for his fur-
naces is obtained.

Ah| there is Harrisburg, and just here below us is Rudy’s ice plant,
and those two houses on the opposite hill are Mr. Rudy’s residence
and farm house. What o’clock 18 it? Eleven fifty-five. Is it possi-
ble? This is a good road upon which to try your horsemanship—
apply the spurs, %or we are due at the Lochiel at 12 sharp. Good!
here we are with a minute and a half to spare. Good time—the last
mile and a half! Young man—please take the horses. ~ w. F. B.
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NOTHS AND QUERIES.—CLXXT.

MiLLs.—William Mills, of Derry, died in 1784, leaving a wife,
Susanna, and children:
i. Mary.
1t. Rebecca.
111, Phebe.
tv. Susanna.
He owned a farm and shad fisheries on the Susquehanna. Where
were the latter situated ?

IN THE REvVvoLuTION.—In November, 1775, there were eleven bat-
talions of associators in Lancaster county, as follows:

First Battalion—George Ross.

Second Battalion—Curtis Grubb.

Third Battalion—Thomas Porter.

Fourth Battalion—James Burd.

Fifth Battalion—James Crawford.

Sixth Battalion—Bertram Galbraith.

Seventh Battalion— MatthiasSlough.

Eighth Battalion—Peter Grubb.

Ninth Battalion—Philip Greenawalt.

Tenth Battalion—Joel Ferree.

Eleventh Battalion—Timothy Green.

OLD HANOVER CHURCH.

REMINISCENCES oF REV. JAMES SNODGRASS.

The Rev. James Snodfmss and the Rev. Nathan Grier, uncle of the
Rev.John Hays Grier,of Jersey Shore, Pa.,both had invitationsto preach
as candidates for the Hanover pulpit. Asthey were acquaintances and
“in honor ﬁreferred one another,” they could not decide which one
should be the first to respond to the call. To relieve them from em-
barrassment, Mr. John Grier, father of the Rev. J. H. Grier, and an
elder at whose house the ministers of that region (Chester county,
Pa.,)) were accustomed to stop and receive entertainment, pro an
af) al to the lot. To this they agreed; whereupon Mr. Grier, the
elder aforesaid, tossed up a penny, the fall of which decided that Mr.
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Snodgrass should be the first to visit the Hanover congregation. It
thus appears that a pastorate of over fifty years’ duration was deter-
mined by so trivial an occurrence as the toss of a penny. Neverthe-
less it was not accidental. “ The lot is cast into the lap,; but the whole
di?osing thereof 18 of the Lord.”

n person, the Rev. Mr. Snodgrass was about 5 feet 11 inches in
height. His frame was erect, strong, and in all respects well developed.
His hair was changed to an iron gray, though it never became white
even in his last years. He was of a pleasant countenance and ami-
able disposition, remarkably free from anything calculated to incur
the dislike or displeasure of those with whom he had intercourse, fond
of society, animated in conversation and in every way agreeable to all
around him. His bodily health during the greater part of his life
was almost uninterrupted. He was temperate, simple and regular in
his mode of living; and for years in succession was not absent from
his pulpit a single day on account of sickness.

As a preacher he had by nature the advantage of good voice. He
spoke distinctly, was animated and earnest, and drew the matter of
his discourses directly from the Bible. During a considerable por-
tion of his ministry his Sabbath morninﬁocz)xercise was in the form of
an exposition or lecture. He selected a book, generally from the New
‘Testament, and commented upon it from beginning to end, selectin
larger or smaller passages as his judgment dictated, and closing wit
extended, practical remarks. He was clear, logical and forcible in
his statements of truth, and was regarded by his ministerial breth-
ren, who knew him best, a3 an able, impressive and profitable
preacher.

I remember Mr. Snodgrass as an old man, with silvery hair, and
stooped with age. He was of medium height, and of a little more
than medium weight. His complexion was light, and his features
regular, except the end of the nose which was somewhat prominent,
and inclined upwards; with a mild and pleasant expression of
countenance. The color of his eyes I cannot with certainty recall,
but I think they were gray.

He always preached memoriter. His sermons were written ver
compactly in a kind of short hand in which the vowels were omitted.
When commitiing them he paced the room. They were methodical,
clear, Scriptural, spiritual and evangelical. Father once remarked
that he “ ﬁad never heard grandfather use an ungrammatical ex-
pression in the pulpit.” He was discriminating and accurate in his
statements, and in the delivery of his discourses never hesitated or
recalled a word. His voice and enunciation were good, though he
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used but a few notes of the scale. There was not, therefore, as much
much variety in his tones as is desirable in a puablic speaker. His
manner was solemn and impressive. His gestures, as I remember
them, were confined for the most part to the hands, which appeared
out of very long coat sleeves. They (the gestures) were made with
the forearm resting upon the Bible or pulpit. His “ principal prayer”
was long, systematic and comprehensive. It embraced the parts of
prayer given in the Directions of Worship, chapter v., and generally
in the order there observed. He believed in the Divine control of na
ture's operations, and in time of drought prayed for “ seasonable and
refreshing showers.” Nor did he omit to give thanks for the same
when “ the hopes of the husbandman were filled.”

I remember hearing him say that “ punctuality ought to have a
lace among the cardinal virtues.” He exemplified this “virtue” b
ginning the services from 10 to 6 minutes before the appoin

time. That was his habit.

He took a deep interest in public affairs, and entered heartily into
conversation upon the topics of the day, but babitually interjected
serious reflections, and suggested a spiritual improvement of the sub-
ject, without interrupting the flow of thought or turning it into a
channel distinctively religious. He had a very happy faculty of this
kind. He used it with effect in impressing the minds of the young,
and without giving offense to any class of the thoughtless or indif-
ferent. In this respect his conversation came nearer that of the ideal
minister than that of any I have ever known.

HARRIS’ FERRY TO THE POTOMAC.

Of the early public roads which were laid out through the territory
lying west of the Susquehanna river, the most interesting, histor-
ically, is the road up the Cumberland Valley from “Harns' ferry
towards Potomac.” ﬁ is the most interesting, because for a period of
seventy years, it was the great highway up and down which passed
the produce of that large and fertile region ; because in the early pro-
vincial wars to which the Marsh Creek settlement gave many of its
fathers and sons, it was the way by which they marched to meet the
enemy and by which they marched to receive greetings from homes
made safe by their valor; and because it has the unique distinction
of having been the first effort of our forefathers to connect this wil-
derness with the civilization which lay beyond. It swept by our
borders on the north and on the west; and by reason of its location
became the highway from which radiated the roads which ran south-
ward from the Conedoguinet region to Baltimore, and eastward from
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the Conecocheague region to both Baltimore and Philadelphia. And
it was in this net work of roads and the choice of markets thereby
afforded, our Marsh Creek fathers found their first impulse to pros-
erity.

P Th);s was the pioneer road of Southern Pennsylvania. It was laid
out six years before Cumberland county was created, and while all
the territory west of the Susquehanna was within the jurisdiction of
the courts at Lancaster. Hence in the archives at Lancaster is the
only record now attainable of the various steps by which this road
came into being. It was in controversy for nine years. The first
trace of it is in 1735. It was surveyed by courses and distances and
ordained as a lawful road in 1744. I conjectured in my first letter on
“ Early Public Roads ” that the date of its creation, undecipherable
in an old manuscript, was 1741. The conjecture was based upon the
fact that east and west roads through the region south of the South
Mountain were petitioned for as early as 1742, and it was not con-
sidered probable that these movements ante-dated the actual layin
out of the t road through the Cumberland Valley. But they dig
ante-date the laying of it out, though they followed tjle agitation and
efforts to secure it.

I have said that the first trace of this pioneer road appearsin 1735.
It was in November of that year, when a petition was presented to
the “ Worshipful the Justices of the Court of Quarter jons” at
Lancaster, from inhabitants on the west side of the Susquehanna
river, opposite to Paxtang, praying that a roadway be laid out “from
John Harrig’s ferry towards Potomac.” The petition was favorably
regarded, and Randle Chambers, James Peat, James Silvers, Thomas
Eastland, John Lawrence, and Abraham Endless were appointed the
viewers, with power in four of them to act.

They reported a route for the road at the next sitting of the court,
but the view had developed the usual result of great neighborhood
agitation. In the winter of 1735, it is recorded that there met at the
house of Widow Piper in Shippeusburg a number of persons from
along the Conedoguinet and Middle SPrin to remonstrate against
the road passing through “ the barrens™ an% to ask that it be made
through the Conedoguinet settlement as more populous and more
suitable. When, therefore, the viewers made their report in Febru-
ary, 1736, they were confronted with the petitions of a “ considerable
number of in{nabitants in those parts,” who set forth that the said
road, as it is laid, is hurtful to many of the plantations, is “ further
about, and is more difficult to clear” than if it was laid more to the
southward. They, therefore, prayed that a review of the same be
made by “ persons living on the east side of the Susquehanna.” This
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conveys a delicate suggestion that personal or other interests had in-
fluenced the previous viewers, two of whom lived on the line as laid
out. The court granted a review and appointed William Rennick,
Richard Hough, games Armstrong, Thomas Mayes, Samuel Mont-
gomery and Benjamin Chambers, to “ make such alterations in said
road as may seem to them necessary for the public good.” Some of
these lived west of the Susquehanna—others east of 1t. So the court
did not fully share the suspicion of the remonstrants, but conceded
something to the excitement of the moment.

In May of the same year these viewers reported that they had
altered “the eastermost part of said road which they find very crooked
and hurtful to the inhabitants.” They reported these changes:
“ From the said ferry near to a S. W. course about two miles; thence a
westerly course to James Silvers’; thence westward to a fording place
on Letort’s Spring,a little to the northward of John Davidson’s; thence
west northerly to the first marked road in a certain hollow; thence
about S. 1. a little to the southward by Robert Dunning’s to the
former marked road; thence along the same to the Great Sprin
head—being as far as any review or alteration to them appear
necessary "—which road altered as above said and altered from the
return to go by James Silvers’ house, was allowed to be recorded. So
says the record of the court. All the authorities which I have seen
fix 1736 as the year, and this line as the line of the road. But that
is an error.

I do not find any other papers, or notes of proceedings in the
court, by which to trace the further progress of this controversy.
But I find among the court papers of FeEruary, 1744, the “courses
and distances” as reported by five new viewers’ from which I infer
that the court on hearing both sides directed a re-view. This report,
made in February, 1744, was confirmed in May of that year and was
ordered to be recorded. I append these “ courses and distances” in
detail for two reasons: because one can judge from them what varia-
tions were sought, and because the record of these lines ought to be
in shape for permanent preservation and for ready use.

From Harris' Ferry to the Temporary Line, May, 17 44.

Beginning at marked White Oak on Susq’a river and extendin
thence S. 66 W. 110, S. 63 W. 120,S. 73 W. 120, W. 164, N. 80 W.
126, W. 791, N. 67 W. 680 to James Silvers’ Spring; thence S. 50 W.
117,8. 70 W. 254, S. 73 W. 140 to Mr. Hogg’s Spring ; thence W.
three miles and 213 p. N. 80 W. 270, N. 60 W. 112, W. 90, S.
60, W. 66 to Randle Chambers’ Spring 210, S. 66 W. five miles
and 210, S. 30 W. 66 S. 43 \V. 48, S. 60 W. (109 to Archibald
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McAllister’'s run) 150 S. 66 W. 620, 8. 57 W. 60, S. 75 W. 128,
W. 120 to Robert Dunning’s Spring; thence N. 66 W. 36, S. 40 W.
44 S.64 W. 620 S.53 W. 160, S. 60 W. 386, 8. 50 W. 260, S. 64 W.
220, S. 58 W. 272, S. 46 W. 140, 8. 56 W. 340, S. 64 W. 280, S. 56 W.
64, S. 63 W.34,8. 556 W. 280, 8. 43 W. 100, S. 48 W. (200 to Ship-
pensburg) 304, S. 66 W. 80, S. 72 W. 46 to Mr. Reynolds’ Spring;
thence S. 60 W. 96, S. 63 W. 856, S. 50 W. 180, S. 35 W. 89 S. W. 220,
S.56 W. 112, 8. 67 W. 80, S. 50 W. three miles and 90, S. 34 W. 460,
to Conogochege creek. Thence S. 40 W. 264, S. 46 W. 290, S. 23 .
16 to the Falling Spring, S. 10 E. 24 8.11 W. 220 S. 21 W. three
miles, 8. 29 W. 288, 8. 47 W. 444, to John Mushel’s Spring. Thence
8. 15 W. for four miles and 66, S. 40 W. two mii)es and 256 to
Thomas Armstrong’s Spring. Thence S. 20 W. 564 to a marked
black oak in the temporary line—being in the whole sixty miles and
109 perches. RANDELL CHAMBERS,
RoBERT DUNNING,
RoBERT CHAMBERS, 3
BENJAMIN CHAMBERS,
JouN McCoRraick.

Comparing the line as finally laid with the line recommended by
the first reviewers, it will be observed that the point of difference was
.at James Silvers’ Spring. The road continues a southwest course to
Mr. Hogg’s Spring, and thence west and northwest to Randell Cham-
bers’ Spring, and by McAllister’s run to Dunning’s Spring. While
the reviewers recommended that from Silvers’ Spring it ‘should go
westward to John Hays’ meadow, by Letort Spring, and John David-
:son’s [also on the Letort near Middlesext], y & certain hollow to
Dunning’s Spring. These reviewers failed, and the ‘“great road”
took the other line and ran north of the site of Carlisle, which was
not surveyed until 17561 or several years after the location of this
road. The reviewers were nearly all from the west side of the Sus-
-quehanna.

No chanse was proposed by the reviewers west of Dunnini’s
Spring; and that part of the road as finally laid out may fairly be
assumed to have been as originally proposed by the first view. So
that alike the Conedoguinet and the Ii(#dle Spring remoustrants all
failed. The course through Shippensburg, it will be noticed, was
‘without variation. And the road struck the * temporary line” between
Pennsylvania and Maryland, about two ‘miles southwest of Thomas
Armstrdng’s Spring.

From these figures and data, it would be easy to recover the old
site of the road, with little difficulty.

The road was not immediately opened through its entire length of
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sixty miles. For I find that in December, 1750, the court warned
the inhabitants of West Pennsboro’ township to *cut, clear and bridge
the Gread Road leading from the River Potomack to the River Sus-
quehannah as far as the same extends through their township.” As
this is the region about Newville, it will be noticed that there was a
reason why it should have been reported as late as 17565 that there
was only a “ tolerable road ” as far up as Shippensburg. In time,
however, all difficulties were overcome, and the road served abund-
antly its purposes.

The distance of the road from the site of Carlisle was inconsider-
able, and access to the village was afforded by the cross-roads laid
out from the North to the South Mountain; and traffic became so
active that in 1762 the two streets—High and Hanover—were laid
out by the court as public roads—High 2,600 feet in length, Han-
over 2,200 feet. Thereafter they were repaired at the general charge.
In 1771 a further enlargement took place, when a public road was
laid out from “ Car]isleréommons (near where the road from York and
the Trindle road meet) thro’ Pomfret street to the great road leading
to Shippensburg.”

From the southwestern part of this “ great road,” our two east and
west roads of 1747 and 1748, as stated 1n Letter No. 1, started. The
Chambersburg and York road, now Mummasburg and Hunterstown,
started at John Mushel’s plantation, which appears in the “ courses
and distances” and the Hagerstown road toward York started “ at
the temporary line,” and ran northeast through Nichols’ Gap.”

My next letter will deal with the roads which ran south from this
“old road ” toward Baltimore, and gave the Marsh creck settlement
its first direct connection with that town. = EDWARD MCPHERSON.

October 18, 1887.

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXII,

GraY.—John Gray, of Paxtang, d. in 1785. His children were:
1. George.
ti. Joseph.
iii. William.
iv. Hannah, m. George Dixon.
v. John.
vi. Robert.
John and Robert, who were probably the eldest sons, were execu-
tors of the estate. To George and Joseph was divided the farm south
of the “ great road.”
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WaLLAcE.—James Wallace, of Paxtang, d. in 1784, leaving a wife
Elizabeth and a daughter Rachel, who married Robert Elder.

Lanpis.—In Derry township, on the road from Annville to Schells-
ville, to the right of the road on the top of the hill, is one of the
Landis family burying grounds, enclosed by a strong stone wall.
There are only two stones, although quite a number of graves. The
inscriptions on the former are:

Hier ruhet | Feliz: Landis, | Ein Sohn des | Henvich Landis | Er war
Geboren den | 31 May, 1794, und | Starb den 22 Septemb'r, | 1831, Sein
Alter war | 27 Yar 3 Monath und | 28 Tage.

Hier Ruhet | Elizabeth Landis, | Ehr Frau Der | Abraham Landis,
Er war Geboren den | 19 December, 1802, und | Starb den § August,
1824, IThr Alt war 21 | Yar 6 Mont und 17 | Tage.

OLD TOMBSTONE RECORDS

IN PRESBYTERIAN GRAVE-YARD, MIDDLETOWN.

[Some fifteen years ago, when making certain researches, we clam-
bered over the fence of the old Presbyterian grave-yard at Middle-
town, and notwithstanding the briary weeds, we copied the following
records from that then badly neglected resting place of many of the
early dead of that prosperous town.]

Crabb, Henry, son of William and Jane, b. December 25,1794; d.
October 4, 1795.

Elder, Mury, b. 1803; d. October 9, 1832,

Gibson, Alice, wf. of Isaac, b. May 20, 1771 ; d. September 23, 1826.

Job, Mary, wf. of Jeremiah, b. 1727; d. June 11, 1793.

McCammon, John, b. 1774; d, July 23, 1838.

McCammon, Mary, wf. of John, b. 1777; d. February 14, 1840.

McCammon, Dr. James, b. 1778; d. November 27, 1&19.

McClelland, Dr. Abraham, b. 1792; d. October 20, 1829.

McFann, Aaron, b. 1791; d. January 17, 1833.

McKibben, David, d. July, 1840.

McKibben, Mrs. Anne, d. April 19, 1836.

McKinney, Mary, wf. of Mordecai, b. 1767; d. October 22, 1793.

McMurray, Mrs. A, d. July 29, 1835.

Meyrick, Samuel, b. June 5, 1766; d. May 14, 1811.

Moore, Hannah, wf. of Henry, b. 1741; d. January 26, 1801.

Moore, Henry, b. 1741; d. September 10, 1795. .

Reiver, Rebecca, b. September, 1768 ; d. December 21, 1831.
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Rogers, Thomas, b. 1792 ; d. August 21, 1849.
Russell, James, 3. of Washington and Eliza ; d. July 3, 1820.
Russell, Eliza, wf. of Washington, b. October 1,1801 ; d. April 20, 1820.
Russell, Eliza, daw. of James and Frances.
Russell, Hannah, dan. of James and Frances.
Russell, William, b. December 16, 1789; d. August 12, 1792.
Russell, Margaret, h. September 18, 1791 ; d. September 27,1792.
Russell, James, Jr., d. November 23, 1793.
Russell, Mary, dau. of William and Susanna Mills, b. June 4, 1765;
d. November 24, 1793.
Russell, Jane, wf. of Alexander, b. 1769 ; d. February 2, 1811.
The following record we give in full. Who was he?
In memory of | Samuel Sutton, 1 a native of Hampshire | county and
State of Virginia, | who departed this Life | July 25, A. D. 1825 | aged
47 years.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENNSYLVANIA BIOGRAPHY.

BURNSIDE, JAMES.

James Burnside was born June 4, 1708,in County Meath, Leinster,
Ireland. His parents were members of the Church of England,and
gave their son a liberal education. In 1734 he immigrated to Georgia,
and was for some time employed in the public store and as an ac-
countant for the trustees of the Colony in Savannah. Purchasing a
small plantation on an island near the town,in 1736, he was married
the first time to Margaret Bevan, daughter of Charles and Margaret
Bevan, by whom he had a daughter, Rebecca, born March 31, 1740,
and baptized two days later by George Whitefield. His plantation
dwelling house having been destroyed by fire, he removed to Savan-
nah, where he met with a similar misfortune. Having become re-
duced in circumstances in consequence of these repeated losses, in
1740 he was engaged b,y Whitefield as general manager of the or-
phan house, “Bethesda.” Here he became acquainted with the Mo-
ravian missionary, John Hagen—at that date Whitefield’s gardener—
and through him desired to know more of the Brethren. With this
in view, lodgings were secured for him at the house of John Brown-
field, where the Brethren held their meetings, which he attended.

After the death of his wife in 1743, with his daughter he sailed for
Philadelphia and visited Bethlehem. The prospect of being ap-
pointed to a civil office in Charleston, S.C., led him to set out thither
in the late autumn of 1744. Before doing so, however, he placed his



36 Notes and Queries.

daughter in the boarding school at Germantown (founded by the
Countess Benigna von Zinzendorf. Here she remained abouta vear,
and was then transferred to the boarding school established at Naza-
reth in May of 1745. During the summer of 1746 the small pox
broke out in the school, and among those who fell victims to this
loathsome disease was Rebecca Burnside, who died after an illness of
two weeks, on the evening of August 12, and was buried in the “In-
dian Grave-yard,” so called.

Early in 1745 Mr. Burnside left Charleston for New York, and in
May proceeded to Bethlehem,where he was admitted to church mem-
bership. On August 19 he was married to Marij Wendover (m. n.
Peterse), widow of Hercules Wendover, one of the first friends of the
Brethren in the city of New York and members of the congregution.

At the Synod, which assembled in Philadelphia in August of 1746,
Mr. Burnside offered himself for service in his adopted church, and
was employed in the Domestic Mission, especially in English districts.
He made several journeys into New England and New Jersey, and
in January of 1747, with Leonard Schnell, went to the vicinity of
Albany and Canajohari, where dwelt numbers of Germans and Irish
Presbyterians, and where they itinerated for three mouths, notwith-
standing the Indians were devastating the country. His last field of
labor was in Walpack and the Minisinks (1748-9), where he preached
with great success, and when he withdrew from the mission service
it was much to the regret of the church.

In 1749 he bought a track of 350 acres of land, lying on the west
of the Manokasy, above Bethlehem, about 225 perches west of the
site of the Indian village of Nain, and in July moved into his
house, which had been erected by workmen from Bethlehem. Here
he farmed until he died.

On the erection of Northampton county, in 1752, Mr. Burnside
was elected the first member of the Assembly; William Craig, sheriff,
and Robert Gregg, Peter Trexler and Benjamin Shoemaker, county
commissioners. %‘he election was held at Easton for the whole
county, and Burnside was known as the * Quaker candidate,” and
his opponent, William Parsons, as the Proprietary candidate.” He
was erected ‘by over 300 majority. On the 14th October he took his
seat at Philac{elphia, and from an examination of the votes of the
Assembly we find that during the two sessions in which he served he
took an active part in all the deliberations, and was a member of
some of the most important committees. With Benjamin Franklin
and other prominent members, he was on the committee for “Striking
£20,000 to be made current and emitted on loan, and for remittin
and continuing the currency of the Bills of Credit of this Province,
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and on the Committees for “ Indian Affairs,” to “Audit and Settle the
Accounts of the Province,” and “Amendments to the Charter of the
Province.”

At the election in 1764 he was defeated by William Parsons, who,
writing under date of October 2, to Secretary Richard Peters, states:
“ Mr. Burnside is going from placeto place, beating his breast, declar-
ing he would serve the country to the utmost of his power if he was

_chosen.”

Mr. Burnside died on his [,)lantation August 8,17565. *“His body
was brought into Bethlehem,” writes the diarist, “ and his neighbors
who attended filled the chapel to overflowing, so that many had to
stand outside. Rev. Abraham Reinck kept the funeral services.
The body was carried to the grave by ten of our brethren, preceded
by the boys and trombonists, and followed by justices of the peace,
male and female neighbors, the widow accompanied by two Labour-
esses, the sisters and girls from the school.”

Some time subsequent to the death of her husband Mrs. Burnside
removed to New York, where she died in January of 1774.

JOHN W. JORDAN.

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXIIL

CookE.—James Cooke, of Donegal township, Lancaster county, d.
in 1772, leaving a wife Mary, and children :
1. James.
5. John.
1ii. David.
1v. Dorcas.
v. Margaret. :
His brother, David Cooke, was executor of the estate. Col. Jacob
Cooke, of Derry, was also a brother. What became of this family ?

CLARK FAMILY.

JoHN CLARK came from the north of Ireland and settled in New
Castle county, now in State of Delaware, prior to 1760, where he died
in October, 1763. He left two sons:

I. WiLLiaM CrARrk, b. 1735 ; d. March 5, 1818; removed to Lea-
cock township, Lancaster county, in 1750, where he purchased sev-
eral hundred acres of land. He never married; was a colonel in the
revolutionary war. He sold his Jands in Lancaster county and re-
moved to Cumberland county, Pa. but died at his brother’s, Brice
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Clark, 8r., in Donegal, Lancaster county, and is buried at Donegal
church.

I1. Brice CLaRk removed to Leacock township about the same
time as his brother and purchased several hundred acres of land.
He married Margaret, widow of Robert Anderson,* of Leacock, about
the year 1781. He aftewards removed to Donegal and purchased the
large farm from James Anderson, which had been formerly owned
by Lazarus Lowrey, who was an Indian trader. It was purchased
a{ter his death from his executors by his son, Col. Alexander Lowrey,
who was also an Indian trader. During the revolutionary war he
sold this farm to Mr. Anderson for continental money which was
worthless. This is the same farm now owned by Hon. J. Douald
Cameron, who purchased it a few years ago from James Brice Clark,
a grandson of the subject of this sketch. Brice Clark was a promi-
nent Presbyterian, and when he came to Donegal he was chosen
ruling elder of Donegal church, a position he held until his death.
He was a very active and prominent citizen. I find that he settled
up a number of estates. In the year 1794 he was elected a member
OF the State Legislature. His wife died April 27, 1818, aged seventy
years. He died N« vember 7, 1820, aged eighty-one years. They had
the following children :

3. gh’zabeth, b. 1781; d. in 1814, unm.

1. Jane, m. Rev. Samuel Porter, who d. at Cumberland, Md.,
January 3,1813, aﬁed 28 years. She died at her brother
John Clark’s, on the Cameron farm, June 16, 1842, aged
60 years. No issue.

#1i. John, b. 1785 ; d. February 18,1860; m. Mary Hamilton,
daughter of James Hamilton, of Salisbury ; she was b.
in 1793, and d. August 14, 1830; their children were :

1. James-Brice.
2. Margaret, d. unm.
8. John- William, b. Oct. 5, 1819 ; d. Deec. 15, 1865.

. Brice, Jr., d. March 24, 1833, aged 46 years; unm.

John Clark was the principal land surveyor in Donegal for several
years,and was ruling elder and clerk of Donegal church for many
years. SAMUEL EVANS.

* ROBERT ANDERSON, of Leacock, left a widow Margaret (who married sec-
ondly Brice Clark, of Donegal). Their children were :
‘:. .;«;um. )
i aret.
&, Robort,
$v. Rebecca.

v. Sarah.
This family removed from Maytown to Washington county, Pa , in 1801.
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YE OLDEN TIMES.—I.

TrE INNS oR TAVERNS OF HARRISBURG.

[The following notes were made some ten years ago by a corre-
spondent who has passed from earth. We give them as written by
him, hoping to supplement the articles.]

Taverns on Paxtang Streel.

A tavern was kept many years ago in the two-story brick house—
now at the corner of Eleventh and Paxtang streets by —— Rheem,
who owned and built the house. Our older citizens, living at this
date (1878), relats, rememberin(f the Rheems, of the trained dogs the
sons had, which were hitched to a wagon and frequently driven
through the town. I think I heard my mother say that Mrs. Rheem
sometimes drove them. G. W. Harris says the dogs were afterwards
taken to Baltimore or Philadelphiaand sold. The Rheems were spoken
of with respect. The property is now owned by the Greenawalt Broth-

ers.

Conrad Knepley kept a tavern on Paxtang street, opposite Second
street, having the portrait of General Jackson swinging from the
Eost, and the words “ General Jackson Tavern Inn ” encircling. Mr.

neﬂle was a straightforward, honest, industrious citizen, but often
laug e«f at for the pronunciation of many of his English words, not
being able to master the language as well as others. He owned and
had a wagon and five or six horses on the rond, hauling merchan-
dise. He also filled the office of high constable, and was a terror to
evil doing boys, who scattered as soon asthe words were given, * here
comes Old Cooney.” The house is yet kept as a tavern by the widow
g{ L(:uis Koenig, deceased, and cwned by his heirs, as the “ Paxton

otel.”

The sign of the “ Spread Eagle ” was owned and kept by Nicholas
Ott. Mrs. Ott was a Miss Kissecker, from Cumberlamf) county, and a
sister of Mrs. Abraham Oyster. The house remains in its original
condition to-day, at the north corner of Paxtang and Front streets,
and is now owned and used as a store and dwelling by Richard Hogan.
This tavern was a popular resort for wagons and drovers, its eligible
location to Harris’ Ferry and Ford brought it a large business. Nich-
olas Ott was a popular landlord and had a wide reputation on the
main line of turnpike. He was the father of Col. L. N. Ott, George
Ott and Mrs. Jacob Dock, deceased. The house had several landlords
since that time, among them Messrs. Grosh, Brumbaugh, Richard
Hogan, Sr., deceased, who purchased the property and conducted
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the business until his death. Mr. Hogan was popularas a landlord—
a jovial, kind-hearted gentleman. It may be here stated that this
property was originally owned by Nicholas Ott’s father, who built
the frame house, the son adding the brick addition. Paxtang street
was originally the old Harris’ Ferry road.

The “Black Horse ” was opposite, corner of Paxtang and Race
streets. The building, a large log and weather-boarded house, is be-
ing removed, having come into the ownership of the School Board,
now known as the Harris school house. It wasbuilt by John Harris,
Jr., for th.e residence of his son, Robert, who lived there many years,
and the following sons were born there: John, David, George Wash-
ington, and Thomas Jefferson. After Mr. Harris removed to the
stone mansion of his father the house was rented as a tavern, and was
the Ferry House. The occupants were Messrs. Peters, Smith, and one
other not remembered, who weresucceeded by Simeon Westfull, Brum-
baugh, Mrs. Nell, George Trullinger, and Peter Miller. The latter
sold it to the School Board. This and the former tavern were regu-
lar wagon stations, and had extensive yards and stables. The writer
recollects when a boy of seeing so many wagons that had put up for
the night that they extended up the bank as far as the grave of j)ohn
Harris, and the boys of the neighborhood were glad to assist the
drivers in cleaning their horses so as to earn a few cents. It is said
large numbers of wagons, horsemen, and travelers were compelled to
remain for several days at these hostelries during the time that ferry-
ing was sto;g)ed by the ice and floods. My parents related the difti-
culties and dangers often experienced at such times. When the ice
was not sufficiently strong to carry the wagons and horses together,
the load was removed from the wagon, one horse was hitched to the
end of the fifth chain, and the empty wagon was drawn over; then
the remainder of the load was taken across on sleds. It was no un-
usual circumstance for men and horses to break through the ice.
The method for proving the strength of ice was for the ferrymen to
walk, carrying their long poles at a balance in front of them, and
with an axe ascertain the thickness, and thus lay out the road. In
case of the ice breaking they sprang out by the use of their poles.
There was also great delay and danger during very high water; then
they were compelled to start a distance above and with long oars land
at the lower end of the island; then work the flat upon the other
side until they reached the head of the island and make a landing on
the western shore. The same labor and danger was repeated coming
back. It was no wonder that people desired a permanent bridge to
come and go when they chose. Previous to the building of the bridge
the lower end of Front street was the most desirable place for busi-
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ness. Harris’' Ferry was owned by the county of Dauphin, after the
founding of the town, and the privilege of the ferry was sold yearly
to the highest bidder. All the cattle, horses, sheep and hogs were
driven then, and until they were carried by rail. During low water
the cattle were driven through the water. Then the noise of the
drivers urging their animals through the water could be distinctly
heard over most of our then quiet town. It was the men engaged in
these Rursuits who resorted to the “Spread Eagle” and “Black
Horse ” taverns.

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXIYV.,

MoxNTtaoMERY.—Archibald Montgomery, of Derry township, d.
in 1773. In his will he directed Robert Ramsey aund Barnabas
Quinn, of Derry, to sell his real estate. His children were:

t. Archibald. ‘
it. Mary, m. Robert Walker.
#i. |a dau.}, m. Samuel Hannah.

Adam Woods, of Leacock, was the executor, and probably a brother
of Mrs. Montgomery.

FRrEIGHT CHARGES SEVENTY YEARS Ago.—It may interest our
readers to compare the freight charges of seventy years ago with that
now charged on the main thoroughfare between Philadelphia and
Pittsburgh. In 1817, it is stated, that in the course of twelve months
12,000 wagons passed the Allegheny mountains from Philadethia
and Baltimore, each with from four to six horses, carrying from
thirty-five to forty hundred weight. The cost per carriage wasabout
87 per hundred weight, in some cases as high as $10to Philadelphia.
The nggre'an sum paid for the conveyance of goods exceeded $1.- .
500,000. To move a ton of freight between Pittsburgh and Philadel-
phia, therefore, cost no less than $140, and took probably no lessthan
two weeks’ time. In 1886 the average amount received by the Penn-
sylvania railroad for the carriage of freight was three-quarters of one

r cent. a ton per mile. The distance from Philadelphia to Pitts-

urgh is 285 miles, so that the ton which cost $140 in 1817 was car-
ried in 1886 for $2.27. At the former time the workingman in Phila-
delphia had to pay $14 formoving a barrel of flour from Pittsburgh,
against 28 cents now. The Pittsburgh consumer paid $7 freight upon
every 100 pounds of dry goods brought from Philadelphia, which 100
pounds is now hauled in two days at a cost of 14 cents.
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THE O'BRIEN FAMILY.

From the American Volunteer of Carlisle, for Thursday, February
19, 1824, the following notice is copied :

“TIt is with much regret that we have to announce the death of our
worthy fellow citizen, Capt. Richard O’Brien, of North Middleton
township. He died at the city of Washington, on Saturday night
last, at eleven o’clock. Among other public trusts confided to him
was that of Consul General for the United States at Algiers.”

Capt. Richard O’Brien was of Irishorigin. His father, William
O’Brien (son of Henry O’Brien), was born in the town of Mallow,
county of Cork, April 28, 1728, but came to America, and in 1757
married Rebecca Crane, at Roasic, in the Kennebec district, Maine,
and Richard was born there in 17568. His father died there Novem-
ber 15, 1762, and was taken and buried in his native town of Mal-
low, Ireland. Following his taste and talent the son became familiar
with the principles and practice of navigation, and his career was
that of a very remarkable man. Possessing naturally a vigorous
mind and ardent temperament, these were enlarged and strengthened
by a series of events the most interesting and diversified. He was in
succession an active and experienced seaman, an intrepid and suc-
cessful adventurer in the privateering exploits of the American Revo-
lution, and a brave commander in the regular naval service of his
country. In 1785, however, he was captured by the Turks, and for
a long time held in servitude by the Dey of Algiers. During seven
years he carried the chain and ball, and then the Dey relieved him
of this evidence of bondage, as an expression of his gratitude, for an
act of prompt kindness rendered in an emergency to the governor’s
daughter. As he measurably conformed to the requirements of the
Koran, as well as rendered himself useful to the Dey and his family,
he was treated with increasing leniency and respect. He then wrote
to Mr. Jefferson in regard to his condition, and desired recognition
and relief. Hence, in 1797, he was appointed by Washington Consul
General to Barbary. This position he held for eight years, and the
merit of his public services was officially acknowledged by three suc-
cessive Presidents. He was the first Consul of the United States to
Barbary, and the first person who there raised the American flag.
In 1805 he returned to his native land, and made Philadelphia
his family residence. But he returned and continued his sea-faring
life, in which occupation two of his sons engaged, and one of them
was lost at sea. In 1810 he purchased a farm from General Irvine,
a short distance from Carlisle, Pa., and there afterwards had his
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home, becoming a worthy farmer, enjoying the respect and confidence
of his fellow citizens, and was a member of the Legislature. After a
life of varied usefullness and abounding in romance, he died when
in Washington city, February 14, 1824, aged sixty-six years, and was
buried in the Congressional cemetery.

He married Elizabeth Maria Robinson, of Carlisle, England, and
married her in Naples, Italy, at the residence of her brother, who was
then and there serving an English consul. By this marriage he had
eight children, four sons and four daughters; four of whom were
born on Turkish territory ; seven lived to adult years; six of these
married, and most of them left issue. The Commodore’s children
are now all dead, and his widow died in 1858. But he has several

ndchildren, &c., living in Carlisle, Philadelphia, New York, &ec.
is children were the following :

i. Elizabeth- Maria, married Mr. Jonathan Holmes, near Car-
lisle, and has four children living, one of whom is mar-
ried. The eldest daughter of tﬁe Commodore joined
the First Presbyterian church, Carlisle, February 10,
1821.

ti. Charlotte- Robinson, married Mr. John McGinnis, Jr., Car-
lisle, and has one daughter living and married.

1ii. George-Africanus, seaman, married a daughter of Dr. Atlee,
of Philadelphia, and had seven children.

1v. Gabriel-Augustus, seaman, and lost at sea, married Eliza-
beth Watketson, of New York, but left no issue.

v. Leonora, married Charles Jack, Esq., of Philadelphia,and
are the parents of Mrs. Ives, of that city.

vi. Richard-lfe:ry, married Miss Allison, of Philadelphia,and
had eight children. He died at Centreville, Cumber-
land county, Pa.

vii. Joseph,a young lawver of Philadelphia, where he died,
aged 21 years, but never married. A devoted Christian.
viii. Helenora, died in childhood.

After the Commodore’s death the O’Brien farm was sold to Mr.
Hershey ; but it is now owned by Jacob Whitman, and adjoins the
poor house farm.

Col. George McFeely, of Carlisle, father of Gen. Robert McFeely,
Commissary General of the United States Army, was the executor of
the O’Brien estate. J. A M.

Carlisle.
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YE OLDEN TIMES—II.

THE EArRLY INN8 OR TAVERNS OF HARRISBURG.

Taverns on Front Street.

A tavern was kept in a two-story log and weather-boarded house
between Hise & Lauman’s brewery and the residence of Adam Zim-
merman, now a three-story brick dwelling owned and occupied by
William K. Cowden, No. 805 South Front street. David Harris,

., did not remember what was on the sign, but stated that a Mr.
l\;’«;;tzel kept it. It hasbeen given by others as the sign of “The
e .”

The sign of the * White Swan ” was owned and kept by Valentine
Egle, Sr., on the north corner of Front and Mulberry streets. The
house was of brick, three stories in height, and was considered a large
building in that day. Its patronage was mostly from persons doing
business on the river and Ead a good reputation from its source to
tide water. Prior to the construction of canals and railroads in this
State, all the productions of the Susquehanna and its branches were
transported in large arks, which were constructed of pine planks.
They were about sixteen feet wide and eighty feet long and E)ur or
five feet in depth, pointed at each end, and were governed by a large
oar at both ends. Frequently two, three or four were lashed together.
They could float safely only when the water was rather high. They
carried wheat, corn, flour, whisky and coal. Robert Harris, Sr., con-
structed a large substantial store house on the river bank below the
Ford at Paxtang street,and a stone wharf on the water side, to trans-
fer the produce of the surrounding country into arks and boats to be
carried to Baltimore, and it is saig was a successful enterprise of the
time. The building was long known asthe “ Red Ware House ” and
was removed only a few years ago to extend Front street.

Another means of transportation of that da{oaud during low water
when the rafting season was over was by flat-bottomed boats. These
vessels were canoe shaped, and propelled b{ means of setting poles
placed at the shoulders of the men who walked on each side on a
walk made for that purpose. By this means produce of all sorts was
carried down the river, and merchandise conveyed back. It was the
only way storekeegers in the upper towns received their goods. These

_men patronized the “Swan Tavern.” Unfortunately on the early
morning of the 14th of July, in the year 1819, the house with others
was destroyed by fire, it is supposed by an incendiary, who fired the
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stable, and which communicated to the house. Mr. Egle then moved
into the house now No. 207 South Front street, where he died.

About the year 1791 Mrs. Stehley, who shortly before buried her
husband, purchased the lot on the south corner of Front street and
Cherry avenue from Robert Harris and erected a log weather-boarded
house, where she kept a tavern for several years. An examination
of the old mansion will convince any one that the interior was

lanned for that purpose. It was afterwards bought by George
%unkel, who commenced storekeeping there. It was also the house
where George and Bernard Geiger began their first store. John
Lemer subsequently moved from Third and Market streets and kept
atavern. Mr. Lemer married a widow—Mrs. Varnick. His children
were Dr. Lerue Lemer, John and Tobias, and daughters Elizabeth,
who married John A. Fisher, Esq., Mrs. Jesse Winsorand Mrs. Nancy
Hamilton, of Lancaster county. The house is now in possession of
and the residence of Mrs. David Harris, and is No. 117 South Front
street.

The sign of the “ Rising Sun,” at the south corner of Front and
Chestnut streets, was owneg and kept b{ John Bigler. Mr. B. had a
good reputation as a landlord, and his house was well patronized by
the usual travelers of that day. It was a popular stopping place for
lumbermen. Mr. Bigler was an uncle to ex-Governor William Big-
ler. The stabling wason the corner of Cherry alley, and was after-
wards converted by William Allison into the three dwelling houses
now remaining. ’lyhere was a cobbled-stone pavement on Chestnut
street where the stables stood.

The “ Green Tree ” was kept by Jacob Hoyer, son of George Hoyer,
of Market square, in a two-story log and weather-boarded white house
on Front street, which was replaced by Gen. John Forster, with a
three-story brick dwelling about the year 1841 or 1842, for a resi-
dence, now No. 7. Mr. Hoyer married Lucetta Brua, a sister of Gen.
Simon Cameron’s wife, and died there. The business was conducted
a short time after by his widow. Mr. Jacob Houser informed the
writer that this had been kept as a tavern for many years prior.

The “Sheaf of Wheat,” at the north corner of Front and Market
streets, was kept at one time by Col. Andrew Lee. The building is
yet standing, and has been occupied for fifty years for stores and
dwelling. It was here where George and Thomas Gallaher (promi-
nent business men of that day, did business). It is now the property
of Mrs. Eliza Hummel. Colonel Lee was a soldier of the Revolution,
and much respected by the people. He was the father of Col. Wash-
ington Lee, a prominent man, who lived and died near Nanticoke,
Luzerne county. Colonel Lee was succeeded by John Shoch, who
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occupied the house for some years and then built the double brick
house adjoining on Front street. After the removal of the State Gov-
ernment to Harrisburg many of the members of the Legislature
boarded with Mr. Shoch. It was here Isaac Wills, brother of Alex-
ander Wills, Esq. (who owned and lived in the stcne house opposite
the lower end of the city in Cumberland county), boarded at the time
of his murder in the store of his brother, on the upper corner of Front
street and Blackberry alley. Mr. Shoch’s sign at the latter house was
the “ Golden Sheaf,” presumably the same sign which formerly
swung from the corner house. Among his patrons the writer re-
members seeing Col. Richard M. Crain and Col. Richard Jacobs, the
brother of Mrs. Jacob M. Haldeman, and others. Mr. Shoch was
rather a large, corpulent man, greatly esteemed, and one of the wealthy
men of the town. He was a shoemaker by trade, and the father of
John, Samuel and Jacob Shoch, and of Mrs. John Geiger. John was
a hatter and deceased ; Samuel is still living at Columbia, and for
many years cashier of the Columbia Bank; Jacob was a physician,
and 18 now (187‘?,) residing in Newark, New Jersey.

Mr. Francis Wyeth says that a tavern was kept by Daniel Stine at
an early day in the house now owned and occupied by him, on the
north corner of Front and Locust streets.

NOTES AND QUERIES—CLXXY.

KEeIMER, orR KIEMER, of Lancaster county. James Keimer, Sr.,
b. February 23, 1718; d. March 29, 1784 ; m., first, Elizabeth ,
b. June 22,1718; d. June 17, 1767; m,, secondly, August 16, 1775,
Sarah King (Penna. Arch., 2d Ser., Vol. II.), who had a sister, Ann
King, who married, it is sui)é)osed, September 13, 1770, William
Davis. Sarah Keimer d. in 1810. Mr. K. settled in Earl township,
Lancaster county, Pa. His will is dated March 28, 1784, and his
children were:

4. David, b. August 29, 1744; d. June 10, 1746.
#i. Thomas, b. November 9, 1746; m. and had five children;
what were their names?
tit. John, b. February 25, 1748; d. October 17, 1751.
iv. James, b. November 10, 1761 ; m. Davis, and had
three children, names unknown.
v. Elizabeth, b. June 17,1756; m. John White, and had
James, Mary and Elizabeth.
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vi. Lydia, b. February 20,1760; m. John Davis, brother of
the wife of James.
Information desired of the Keimer family. bk

CoL. THoMAS CAMPBELL.—The following obituary notice is taken
from the Carlisle Herald of Thursday, January 26, 1815, and credited
g the Adams Sentinel—a paper published in Gettysburg by Robert

arper:

“ Diep, suddenly, on the 12th inst., at the house of William Gilli-
land, Esq., near Gettysburg, Col. Thomas Campbell, of York county.
He was a firm advocate in the cause of American freedom, not in
theory alone, for he fought and bled! He endured the hardships of
the campaign of ’75, continuing in the service until the battle of
Germantown, where a ball, when he was in the act of taking aim at
the enemy, gassing through his wrist, entered his breast and was ex-
tracted at the opposite side. From the effects of this wound he en-
dured throughout the remainder of his life many severe indisposi-
tions, terminating at last in dissolution. He has left a numerous con-
nection to lament the sudden removal of his affections and his care.”

The Campbell farm, originally in Monaghan township, York
county, but now in Carroll, was sold after the Colonel’s death, and
was bought by Col. Henry Logan. Thomas Campbell, Jr., lived for
years in Dillsburg, a widower, with four children, three daughters
and a son—Ann, Matilda, Isabella and James. But subsequently
they removed to Ohio, and there the father died. The children,
more or less venerable, are all living in Cleveland. Ann, who first
married Samuel W. Sidle, in Dillsburg, is a widow, without children ;
Matilda S. married John DeVinney, Esq., and has a family ; Isabella
never married ; James married and hasafamily. The writer officiated
at the marriage of Ann in April of 1843, and at the marriage of
Matilda in March of 1853. In 1875 he visited them in their pretty
home at Cleveland, and has been kindly visited by them. J. A. M.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENNSYLVANIA BIOGRAPHY,

MitcHELL, DAvID.

David Mitchell, soldier, son of John and Agnes Mitchell, b. July
17,1742, in Cumberland county, Pa.; d. May 25, 1818, on the Juni-
ata, now Perry county, Pa.; was in the provincial army under
Forbes and Bouquet as a subaltern officer, served in the war of the
Revolution, and was major of \Vatts’ battalion at the battle of Long
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Island ; appointed by Governor McKean in Muy, 1800, brigadier
general of the militia of Cumberland and Franklin counties ; repre-
sented his county in the General Assembly continuously from 1788
to 1805, and was a Presidential elector in 1813 and 1817.
MoNTGOMERY, JOHN.

John Montgomery, b. July 6, 1722, in the north of Ireland, of
Scotch parentage; d. September 3, 1808, at Carlisle, Pa.; came to
America about 1740; entered mercantile pursuits; served in the
Forbes expedition of 1758, his captain’s commission in the Third
Pennsylvania battalion bearin% date May 7, 17568; was chairman of
the committee of observation for Cumberland county in 1774; ap-
pointed by the Congress one of the commissioners to hold a treaty
with the Indians at Fort Pitt.in July, 1776; was colonel of a bat-
talion of Associators in the Jersey campaign of 1777; elected by the
-General Assembly to the Continental Congress in 1782 and 1783;
one of the burgesses of Carlisle in 1787, and commissioned an associ-
.ate judge of Cumberland county in 1794; he was ostensibly the
founder of Dickinson College, Carlisle, and a public spirited citizen.
His son, John Montgomery, was mayor of Baltimore, Attorney Gen-
-eral of Maryland and a representative in Congress.

MaRrks, WiLLIAM.

William Marks, son of William, b. October 13,1778, in Chester
-county, Pa.; d. April 10, 1858, in Beaver, Pa.; his parents removed
to Western Pennsylvania in 1783; a tanner by occupation ; called
into public life in 1809 by election to the General Assembly, serving
in the House of Representatives until 1814; from 1821 to 1825 was in
the State Senate, being Speaker of that body during his entire term,
.and elected U. 8. Senator in 1825, serving until 1831; he was a
brigadier general of the militia, a gentleman of sterling worth and a
-conspicuous personage in Western Pennsylvania. -

.STURGEON, DANIEL.

Daniel Sturgeon, son of Henry Sturgeon, b. October 27, 1789, in
Adams county, Pa.; d. July 2, 1878, in Uniontown, Fayette county,
Pa.; was educated at Jefferson College, from which he gmduatec{ ;
‘studied medicine under Dr. Stevens, of Fayette county, and in 1813
began the practice of medicine; in 1818 chosen a member of the
Pennsylvania House of Representatives, serving three terms; in 1825
-elected to the State Senate, being Speaker of that body the last three
_years of his term ; in 1830 was appointed by Governor Wolf Auditor
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General of the State, which office he filled six years; in 1838 and
1839 was State Treasurer,and ended the “ Buckshot war” by refusing
to honor Governor Ritner’s warrant for payment of the troops; in
1840 was elected U. 8. Senator for the term commencing March,
1839; in 1845 re-elected to that body, his last term expiring March
3,1851; in 1853 President Polk appointed him treasurer o% the U.
S. mint at Philadelphia, a position he held until 1858 ; although
when in Congress he was called the “silent Senator,” he was consid-
dered a hard-working committee member; never made but one
speech, that to reiterate a remark he made in committee, which was
wrung from him, “ Any Senator who saysanything which would tend
to the disruption of the Union is a black-hearted villain.” During
the forty years of his active life he was an unflinching Democrat, but
his honesty and integrity was of the strictest kind.

YE OLDEN TIMES.—III.

TrE EARLY INNS OR TAVERNS OF HARRISBURG.

Taverns on Second Street.

The “Buck” Inn was kept by Capt. Jeremiah Reese in the two-
story brick house now remaining at the lower end of Second street,
east side, almost adjoining the bridge over the canal, the road
being where it is, previous to making the canal. The property was
owned by Mr. Reese, and came through his first wife, a daughter of
Casper Smith, who established the tavern. The “ Buck ” Inn was a
favorite resort for the men composing the best society of that day as
a place for playing ball and other innocent games. The ball al{eys
of that time, as they were called, consisted of a high weather-boarded
fence, at which the ball was thrown and caught as it rebounded.
Captain Reese was a man much respected and of means at ono timne,
but was unfortunate and became reduced by some investments with
the late Dr. James Aﬁnew. He commanded a company of volun-
teers in 1812 from this place. He was a toll gate keeper for many

rears for the old Market street bridge on the west side of the river.

e was married three times and had several children ; the eldest is
now living, Cyrus J. Reese.

The next tavern above was owned and kept by John Lintermuth,
at the corner of Second and Vine streets. The house is yet standing,
a large l$ and weather-boarded building now owned and occupied
by Mrs. Fritchey, and is No. 338 South Second street.
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John Dumars built and kept the sign of “ Sampson and the Lion,”
said to have been a good painting. This tavern was only a few doors
above Mr. Lindermuth’s, a two-story brick house. It was kept by
others after his death. Mr. Dumars is the grandfather of those of that
name now living here. The tavern house was on part of a full lot,
with a side yard. It was purchased a few years since by Martin Erb,
who removed the old building and erected several three-story brick
houses on the ground. It is No. 324 South Second street.

The sign of the “Mermaid.” This was owned and kept by Jack-
son Watson. The original house is yet remaining on the corner of
Second street and Washington avenue. Formerly there was no street
there, but Harris alley terminated a short distance above. Mr. Wat-
son was an Irishman and married Miss Wentz who survived him
many years. He must have been a successful man as his estate was
considerable after his decease. His children were Alexander, and
two daughters, one of whom married Mr. Bergstresser.

The “ Green Tree” was located on the east side of Second street,
second house below Mulberry street, and was kept by Mr. Knepley,
the father of Conrad and John Knepley. It was, as usual, a log and
weather-boarded house. The other landlords are not known. The
building is now No. 207 South Second street. It was afterwards dis-
continued as a public house, and Joseph Spring kept his store there
for some years. Mr. Spring was a German, had two sons, Joseph and
Amos, and a daughter, who married Philip Linn. He afterwards re-
moved to the property now owned by George H. Bell, at Second and
Chestnut streets.

The “Harp” was kept by Jimmy McNamee, in Mulberry street
near Second. The house was a large two-story log structure, and was
a stopping place for Irishmen at that time. The building was re-
moved to open a private alley now there. The house was afterwards
occupied for many years by John Fries 2s a soap and candle factory.

The “Seven Stars” Inn was on the east corner of Second and
Chestnut streets, a double two-story brick house, having a side yard
and stabling in the rear. It was built and kept by Jacob Fridley for
many years, and until his death, when his widow, Rebecca, kept it
for a long time. This was a well-managed house and lad a large
patronage. It was a resort for the numerous peddlers of that day
and also for horse drovers, and for the farmers of the surrounding
country. As churches were less numerous then than now, many were
the weddings held in the plain side ;mrlor, and by the Rev. George
Lochman, D. D., who resided only a few doors below. Gigs were thg
conveyance then in general use, and it wasa familiar sight to see two
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and three gigs arriving at the “Seven Stars” containing wedding
parties. Most of the journeymen printers and hatters boarded there,
and when the weather was pleasant they had much amusement around
the doors. Mr. Fridley left three daughters, namely, Susan, Maria,
and Rebecca. The first married Jacob Seiler, the second, Henry Mc-
Gowen, and the last, Willinm Brenizer. The tavern was continued
after Mrs. Fridley retired by these sons-in-laws.

Col. Jacob Seiler kept the house from 1836 to 1838. William Bren-
izer then kegt it until about 1846, when Henry McGowan took charge,
the last of the sons-in-law. It was afterwards kept by Samuel Free-
born, Jacob Scholl, and lastly by Daniel Wagner. In 1868 or '69
Jacob Singer purchased it, and converted it into a grocery and whole-
sale queensware store. It yet belongs to Mr. Singer, and has been
occupied as a furniture store for some years. It appears Mr. Mc-
Gowan was there twice, as a Mr. Jameson kept it during the interval.

The “ Fountain” Inn, on the north corner of Second and Chestnut
streets, was kept in 1821 by John Walborn. The building was a
large two-story log and weatherboarded ; the stable was on Chestnut
street, on the corner of Church alley, which ran from Cherry to Black-
berry alley, the gable end fronting the street. The writer does not
know who kept it prior to that time, and supposes Mr. Walborn was
the last landlord. This house was, however, previously occupied by
Messrs. Gen. John Forster and James Montgomery, Esq., as a store,
and at one time by James Alricks as a store. Mr. Alricks was the
father of Herman and Hamilton Alricks and Mrs. Ovid Johnson.
Mr. Alricks lived there in 1812. Mr. Herman Alricks stated that the
post office was kept in this house at an early day. The old house
was removed twenty years ago,and the present brick building erected
by George and William BeIF. William Bell, Sr., purchased it from
Joseph Spring. It is now No. 32 South Second street. Mr. Jacob
Ziegler, who died July 1, 1868, aged 96 years, stated that he came to
Harrisburg in October, 1794, with a knapsack on his back, and stopped
at this tavern, then kept by John Horter—that he could not get ac-
commodated on account of the house being full of soldiers and others
on their way to quell the Whiskey Insurrection. The bar room was
full of them, drinking and having a jolly time. He then went to
Ziegler's tavern, in the Square. Mr. Zeigler afterwards married Mr.
Horier’s daughter.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXYVI.

SMALL FAMILY OF YORK.

The recent death of George H. Small, Esq., of this city, brings to
our attention the following memoranda:

LoreNz ScHMAHL arrived in Philadelphia from the Palatinate in
September, 1742, and took the oath of allegiance to the Provincial
Government, as the records in the office of the Secretary of the Com-
monwealth here show. He came with a wife and several children,
sons and daughters, and died a few years afterwards. His children
were Jacob, John, Killian, and Lawrence, with several daughters, whose
names I do not remember.

Jacob was the father of Col. Jacob Small, of Baltimore.

John removed to Beaver county, Pa., soon after the Revolutionary
war, and left a numerous progeny, whose descendants are still there.

Killian remained in York, and had scns Johu, Jacob, Michael,
George, Peter, Joseph and Henry—no daughters. Of these children
Michael settled in Baltimore, and was the father of Joseph Small, of
that city, lately deceased ; George was grandfather of George, of Bal-
timore.

Lawrence also remained in York and left several sons and daugh-
ters. H.C. W.

DAVIS FAMILY OF CHESTER AND LANCASTER COUNTIES.

Davip Davis, Sr., of Chester county, Pa., had:

1. Davip, Jr. IIe removed to Mill Creek, southeast corner of East
Earl township, Lancaster county, where he engaged in merchandis-
ing, and was styled “ Shopkeeper.” He contracted March 28, 1760,
to pay John Davis, yeoman, of Big Springs, Lancaster county, £50,
contract witnessed by David Davis, Sr., and Thomas Davis. He and
Meredith Darlin%ton bought lands in Frederick county, Va., of Abel
James, Philadelphia, of which 600 acres on Pearis (Parishes) Run, he
sold or gave to his eldest son John. His will, probated at Winches-
ter, Va., April 7, 1790, names wife Margaret, sons John and Gabriel,
a nephew, John Darlington, making all four his executors. Only the
widow and nephew qualified. He m. Margaret ; their chil-

dren were:
i. John, b. October 8, 1746; d. April 6, 1810; m. Lydia
Keimer, daughter of James Keimer, of Lancaster
county, and had issue:
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David.

. {c{zmea-K.
ary.

Elizabeth.

David-J.

Gabriel.

Thomas-E.

John-P.

Rees- Harvey,

Horatio-Gates.

. Moses-H.

. Lydia-L.

. William-King.

. George-H.
ti. GQabriel.

1. [A dau.], m. James Keimer.
iv. E)amd J
v. Thomas.

II. MARY Davis, m. William Darlington, of West Nantmeal town-
ship, Chester county. Will dated September 17, 1767 ; probated in
Chester county October 6, 1767. Names of children as follows, his
wife and son, Meredith, being executors:

i. William.
ii. Meredith.
it 5ohn.h
tv. Joseph.

0. Roslc),;rt

Gabriel Davis, of Earl township, Lancaster county, assessor 1730 ;
juryman, 1783 ; member of Provincial Council, 1776; was doubt-
iess of this family and brother of David Davis, Sr. Information is

very much desired concerning the early records of this family.
*x %k % X
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THE DEED TO PAXTANG GLEBE.

[We are indebted to William Swan Rutherford, Esq., for a copy of
the deed to Paxtang congregation. It will be seen that the original
warrant for that tract of ﬁand upon which the church was built was
granted as late as 1744, while the right and title to the church glebe
was not given to the congregation until ten years afterwards. %Vhy
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this neglect,and why a church should have been erected thereon prior
to gain of title is difficult to comprehend. However, we are convinced
of one imﬁortant fact, that in 1764 a stone meeting-house, the present
structure, had been erected. We have always been of the opinion
that the stone building had been erected prior to 1750. Be this as it
may, the following is an important document, and throws a little
more light upon the history of Paxtang church.]

THis INDENTURE made the Eighth day June in the year of Our
Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred and fifty-four, Between Henry
Foster of the Township of Paxtang, in the county of Lancaster, in the
province of Pennsylvania, Yeoman, Eldest son of John Foster, late of
the said county, Yeoman, Deceased, and Ann his Wife, of the one

art, and the Congregation that now belongs to the Reverend John
Glder of the Township in the said county-and province, Jointly, of
the other part; Wikreas, the said John Foster was in his life time,
by virtue of a certain patent bearing date the fifteonth day of October,
One Thousand Seven Hundred and forty-four, seized in his Demesn
asof Fee, of and in a certain Tract of Land containing three Hun-
dred and twenty-one acresand allowance, and Dyed so thereof Seized,
Intestate, Whereupon, according to Law of this Province, the same
descended and came to and amongst all his children in Equal pro-
portions, the said Henry as Eldest Son taking a double share to the
rest of the children; And Whereas, the said l§enry Foster, by his pe-
tition to the Orphens Court Held at Lancaster for the county Afore-
said, the fifth day of December, One thousand Seven Hundred and
Fifty-two, setting forth that his said Father so dyed seized of the said
Tract of Land as Aforesaid, and that it wo'd be inconvenient to divide
the same, and that he was willing and desirous to hold the same and
pay the younger Children their Respective shares thereof, according
to a valuation to be made by indifferent persons, pursuant to the Di-
rection of Act of Assembly in that case made and provided, and pray-
ing that proper persons might be appointed to mnake valuation ac-
cordingl]{; obtained an order of the same Court, That James Gal-
braith, Esquire, Thomas Forster, Esquire, Thomas Simpson and
James Reed should value the said tract of land and make a Return
of such Valuation to the same Court; Whereupon they, the said
James Galbraith, Thomas Forster, Thomas Simpson and James Reed
returned to thesaid Court that they had by virtue of the above men-
tioned order valued and appraised the suicg’ Tract of Land at the sum
of Three Hundred and Eight pounds; Aud thereupon it was ordered
by the court, that the saiﬁ Henry Foster do hold the said Tract of
Land on giving security for the payment of the respective shares of
the other Children of the said John Foster, Deceased, which amounted
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to forty-seven pounds ten shillings each, as by the records and pro-
ceedings of the same court, Relation being thereuuto had will more
more fully and at large appear; And Whereas, He, the said Henry
Foster, hath now satisfied and paid or given security for the payment
of the Respective Shares of the Other (glhildren, and therefore 18 now
by virtue of the Act Assembly in that case made and provided, be-
come seized and possessed of the said Tract of Land to hold to him,
his Heirs and Assigns, for Ever; Now, This Indenture Witnesseth, that
the said Henry Foster and Ann his wife, for and In consideration of
the sum of Ten pounds lawful money of Pennsylvania to them or
one of them in hand well and truly paid by the said congregation, at
or before the Execution hereof, the Receipt and payment whereof are
hereby acknowledged, Have and each of them Hath Granted, Bar-
gnined, Sold, Released «nd Confirmed, and by these Presents Do and
each of them Doth Grant, Bargain, Sell, Release, Confirm unto the
said Congregation, Jointly, their Ilcirs and Assigns, All that tract,

iece or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the Township of
Y’axtang aforesaid, in the,County of Lancaster, e?inning at a Black
Oak, thence South Eleven Degrees West Ninty-Three perches to a
Black Oak, thence North Eighty degrees West Thirty-Six perches to
a post, thence South Eleven Degrees East Ninty-three perches to a
Black Oak, thence South Eighty Degrees East Thirty-Six perches to
the place of beginning, Containing Twenty Acres, without allowance
for Roads, for the use of the Said Congregation of Paxtang, on which
the Stone Meeting House is Built, It being part and parcel of the
Above mentioned Tract of Land Containing Three Hundred and
Twenty-one Acres and Allowance, Together with all and Singular
the Buildings, Gardens, Orchards, Meadows, Pastures, Feedings,
Woods, Underwoods, Ways, Waters, Watercourses, Hedges, Ditches,
Trees, Fences, Profits, Privileges, Advantages, Hereditaments, Im-
provements, Rights, Members, and Appurtenances whatsoever there-
unto belonging, or in any wise appertaining, and the Reversion and
Reversions, Remainder and Remainders thereof, and all the Estate,
Right, Title, Interest, Use, Trust, Property, Possession,Claim, and De-
mand, whatsoever, both at Law and in Equity, of them the said
Henry Foster and Ann his wife, of in and to the same, 7o Have and
{o hold the said Tract or parcel of Land, Hereditamentsand Premises,
hereby Granted and Released, with the Appurtenances, unto the said
Congrefation, their Heirs and Assigns, To the only use and behoof of
the sai CongreFrtion, their Heirs and Assigns, forever, at and under
the proportionable part of the yearly Quit Rent now due, and here-
after to become due for the same to the chief Lord or Lords of the I'ee
thereof ; and the said Heury Foster doth hereby grant for himself
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and Heirs, that he and they, the said Tract of Land, Hereditaments
and premises hereby granted, with the Appurtenances, Unto the said
Congregation, their Heirs and Assigns, against him the said Henry
Foster and the said Ann his wife, Heirs, and against all and every
other person and Persons, Whomsoever lawfully claiming, or to claim
the same, or any part thereof, by, from, or under him, ﬁer, or them,
shall and will warrant, and forever defend, by these presents.

In Witness, whereof, the said parties to these presents their hands
and seals have hereunto interchangeably set, the day and year above
written. HENRY FosTER, [L. 8.]

ANN FoSTER, EL. 8.]

Sealed and delivered in the presence of us by the within named

Henry Foster. HEeNRY FoSTER.

THOS. FFORSTER,
THos. SIMPSON. .

Sealed and delivered by the within named Ann Foster in the
presence of us. ANN FosTER.

THroS. FPORSTER,

THO8 SIMPSON.

Received the day and year first within written of and from the
within named congregation the sum of ten pounds, being the full
consideration money within mentioned to be paid to me.

HEeNrY FosTER.
Witness:

THosS. FFORSTER,
THos. SIMPSON.

The 8th day of June, 1764, before me the subscribers, one of his
Majesty’s Justices of the Peace of the county of Lancaster came the
within named Henry Foster and Ann, his wife, and acknowledged
the within written indenture to be their act and deed and desired
that the same shall be recorded as such, the said Ann voluntarily
consenting thereto, she being of full age and secretly and apart ex-
amined the within, consent being first made known to her. Wit-
ness my hand and seal the same day and year above written.

THoS. FFORSTER, [L. 8.]

Entered in the office for Recording of Deeds in and for the county
of Lancaster in Book C, page 237, on the Eleventh day of June,
Anno Dom., 1770. Witness my hand and seal of my office aforesaid. .

EpwARD SHIPPEN,

[oFFICE S8EAL.] Recorder.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXVII,

[A NeaLECTED GRAVE-YARD.—The following communication, asan
advertisement, appeared in one of our Middletown contemporaries.
It shows the fate of Farm Family Grave-yards. At another time we-
ghall have something to say of this contemplated vandalism, only
reproducing the advertisement in the hope it may meet the eye of
members of the families interested.]

To whom it may concern :

Notice is hereby given that a grave-yard on the property of the un-

dersigned in Londonderry Township, Dauphin Co., Pa., 18 in a dis-

raceful condition, overgrown with brushes and weeds, which spread
in the field. This grave-yard islying nearly in the center of a twenty-
eight acre field.

o right or deed was given. The undersigned has paid the taxes
of this plot of land for the past twenty years, and hereby gives notice
to all persons having relatives buried on the above named plot of

ound to remove them and their grave stones before the first day of

arch, 1888, as after that date the same will be cleared and plowed
over. No one has been buried on the above named ground for the
last thirty years. :

This tract is sixty-three feet long and fifty-seven feet wide.

If the headstones are not taken out before the day above men-
tioned they will be sunk down below plowing reach.

The following is a description of al{)tbe headstones on the ground
with the exception of a few that are marked with two letters only:

Samuel Bell, died June 7, 1849. By Middletown Council, No. 84,
O.of U. A. M. '

Leander Ruth, born August 15, 1836, died November 17, 1841,

Mary Ruth, born March 17, 1798, died October 6, 1841.

Catherine Ruth, born March 27, 1828, died September 18, 1841.

John Ruth, born June 10, 1820, died August 13, 1840.

Jacob Reiff, born March 12, 1775, died September 5, 1807.

John Detweiler, born December 8, 1790, died December 5, 1833.

Jacob Detweiler, born December 8, 1798, died Decemnber 6, 1833.

Barbara Detweiler, born March 3, 1796, died October 14, 1819.

Elizabeth Detweiler, born April 25, 1825, died September 17, 1825.

ftﬁiary Detweiler, born March 10, 1826, died 1826, died 10 hours
after.

Elizabeth Sellers, born November 10, 1800, died December 11, 1849.

Jeremiah Sellers, born September 24, 1799, died July 3, 1853.
Hillsdale, December 1, 1887. J. E. MARTIN.
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CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENNSYLVANIA BIOGRAPHY.

ANDERSON, CAPT. PATRICK.

Patrick Anderson was born February 24, 1719, and was the first
child of European parentage born within the limits of the present
townships of Charlestown and Schuylkill and the borough of Phae-
nixville, in Chester county, Pa. His futher was Jamnes Anderson, a
Scotchman, and his mother was Elizabeth, daughter of Thomnas Jer-
man, a noted Quaker preacher in the Chester Valley. In his youth
he was sent to Philade‘)phia to be educated, and for a time he taught
school, but later obtained his father’s farm, of 340 acres, on the Pick-
ering creek, about two miles from Valley Forge, and there also built
a mill. There is au letter extant from William Moore, of Moore Hall,
to Chief Justice Allen, of November 5, 1755, during the French and
Indian war, recommending him for a captaincy and asking that he
be supplied with powder. He was a man of great resolution and
strength of character, and was among the first to suggest resistance to
British aggression. He was one of the Chester county committee of
which Anthony Wayne was chairman, appointed in accordance with
the recommendations of the Congress of 1774, and in March, 1776,
was mnade senior captain of the Pennsylvania Battalion of Musketry,
commanded by Col. Samuel J. Atlee. This battalion may be said to
have won the only American success at the battle of Long Island, as
it captured and held against repeated assaults of the enemy an emi-
nence on the left of the right wing. Here Lieut. Col. Caleb Parry,
the neighbor and confidential friend of Anderson, was killed by his
side and he became much enraged. The capture of Atlee by the
British left him in command of the battalion, and a letter from him
to Franklin concerning its condition may be found in the Pennsyl-
vania Archives. In theunfortunate affair at Fort Washington nearly
all of his men were taken prisoners. He then applied for a commis-
sion as lieutenant colonel, but was unsuccessful, and March 12, 1777,
he was the ranking Penunsylvania captain of the Continental army.
When the British army passed through Chester county in September,
1777, knowing of Lis absence in the service, they ransacked his house
and destroyed property to the value of £303, 3s, Gd. He was elected
& member of the Assembly in the years 1778, 1779, 1780 and 1781,
and bore an active part in the impeachment of Judge Francis Hop-
kinson. His influence throughout the country was extensive. In
April, 1779, he wrote to the Council of Safety concerning irregulari-
ties in the election of militia officers, and the election was nullified.
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In 1781 he was appointed one of the Board of Commisssoners having
in charge the navigation of the river Schuylkill. He had three
wives, viz: Hannah Martin, Elizabeth Morris, a full cousin of Cols.
Edward and Benjamin Bartholomew, and Ann Beaton, sister of Col.
John Beaton, an(i had twelve children. Ile died in March, 1793.
His son Isaac, who was an express rider and militia captain in the
Revolutionary war, was a Presidential elector in the Monroe cam-
paign and a member of Congress from 1803 to 1807. In this connec-
tion it may be stated that Hon. Matthew Stanley Quay is a great-
grandson of the brave Capt. Patrick Anderson. 8. W. P.

YE OLDEN TIMES.—IV.

TrE EARLY INNS OR TAVERNS oF HARRISBURG.

Taverns on Second Street (Concluded).

The Union Hotel was on the east corner of Market Square and
Blackberry alley and was kept by John Buffington. It was one of
the best hotels in the borough, and patronized by the better class of
the community. Among the guests were the star actors of the thea-
ters who then played here. On one occasion some of the young men
of the town made arrangements to hold a ball, a very usual custom
then. Among others were George W. Harris, John Forster, John
Roberts and John M. Forster, who thought proper to invite Mrs.
Williams, an actress of celebrity who was boarding there. The result
was the young ladies who had been invited refused to come if Mrs.
Williams would be there, a circumstance which was much regretted
bly the gentlemen. Fortunately Mrs. Judge Todd, of Bedford, con-
cluded to attend, which induced the rest of the invited ladies to go
also, and the ball passed pleasantly. Mrs. Williams, however, did
not make her appearance, having probably heard that her presence
was objectionable. Col. John ﬁo‘))erts was considered the finest
dancer in the town. It was when these young men were students
and preparing for other pursuits. Mr. Buffington left this house
nbout 1821 or '22. IIe only occupied the corner house, the one ad-
joining being occupied by the Harrisburg Bauk, who purchased it.
William Graydon, Sr., Esq., resided there after the bank removed,
and kept a book store. The next landlord was George Nagle, from
Berks county, who kept it until about 1844, when Wells Coverly, of
Centre county, succeeded him. Mr. Nagle kept a good house. It
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was the Democratic head(‘uarters, and most of the members of the
Legislature of that party hoarded there. President Van Buren re-
mained there during his visit here. Wells Coverly married Mary
Calder, sister of the late William Calder. As Mr. C’s politics was
different, the tavern became the Whig headquarters. Gen. Zachary
Taylor when a candidate for the Presidency stopped here and re-
ceived the congratulations of the citizens. The Hon. William F.
Johnston, Speaker of the Senate, boarded here at the time he was
Governor for the unexpired term of Francis R. Shunk. After Mr.
Coverly retired, the property was purchased by the Kelker Brothers
from the Harrisburg Bank, which had many years previously bought
it. I think these houses were owned and erected by Christian Kun-
kel. They are well built large three-story brick houses. The lower
one is now the property of the estate of Theodore F. Scheffer, used as
a printing office and book store, and the corner by the Kelkers as a
hardware store. Governor James Pollock alsoboarded here during his
official term. Neither he or Governor Johnston occupied residences
while in office.

The sign of “Cross Keys.” This house was built and kept by
George Ziegler, on the east corner of Market square and Blackberry
alley. The building was constructed especially for a tavern and a
Flace of amusement. It is yet remaining, and 18 21 feet front by 90
eet deep, with the gable fronting the street. There was a large
room on the second floor which was used for dancing and also for a
theater. The house is brick, three stories. But few are living now
when it was kept as a public house. Mr. Ziegler quit keeping a
tavern at an-early day, and for many years after kept the principal
store of the town. The writer, when a boy, was often sent there for
articles, and distinctly remembers his appearance. He was a tall,
slender man, with a quiet, religious countenance, and had the look
of being connected with one of the plain-dressing religioussects. He
wore his hair rather long. Had a decided German face. One would
not suppose from his manner and appearance that he had at one
time kept a tavern at which there was so much amusement allowed.
Mr. Ziegler lived to a good old age, and was much respected. His
children were Ann Catharine, wife of George Kunkel ; Mary, wife of
the Rev. John P. Hecht, and Elizabeth, wife of Rev. Fred. Rothrock,
all deceased. The original building yet remains, and owned by the
estate of Jacob Houser.

The “ Poplar” Tavern was built and kept by George Hoyer, and
was among the first inns of the town. His sign was a poplar tree on
the west side of Market square, below Market street. It was a log
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weather-boarded two-story house, with a ten-feet alley on the lower
side. All the wood used in its construction was poplar. Mr. Hoyer
was one of the successful men of his time. He possessed the adjoin-
ing lot above, on which he erected a fine two-story brick house, in
which he kept a store after retiring from the tavern. He also owned
several other properties, on one of which the present freight depot of
the Pennsylvania railroad is now, and also the Harrisburg gas works.
The old tavern house was partially destroyed by fire while occupied
by George Felix as a confectionery. It was then purchase(f) by
Joseph wallace, Esq., who built the present three-story brick house
for Dr. William McPherson, his son-in-law. It is now owned and
occupied by Mrs. Eliza D. Klein. After Mr. Hoyer’s retirement the
tavern was kept by a Mr. Coover and others. The stabling was on
River alley.

The “ \g’asbington House,” located on the east corner of Second
and Market streets, was at one time the most important hotel in Har-
risburg. Being centrally located, it commanded a large business,
when properly kept. The building was a three-story brick double
house, fronting on Second street or the square. Its sign was a well-
Rainbed picture of General Washington of full size in citizen’s dress,

olding a scroll of paﬁer in his right hand. It has been stated that
Washington stopped here when going to Western Pennsylvania dur-
ing the Whiskey Insurrection, but the house was then occupied as a
store. Gen. William H. Harrison stopped here in 1840, when a can-
didate for the Presidency. The stables were on Market street, frame
and whitewashed, on the ground now occupied by the Dauphin De-
posit Bank building adjoining, the pavement being cobbled with
stone. This tavern had various landlords, among thein were Messrs.
Nicholas Schwoyer, Hensey, John Smull, William E. Camp, Joslin,
E. P. Hughs, Major Sanders and his son, Wm. E. Sanders. The
property was afterwards purchased by Andrew J. Jones, who removed
the old house and erected the present building, since named the
Jones House [now the Leland House].

The “Golden Swan” was located on the east side of Market Square
above Market street. It was a two-story log and weather-boarded
white house, the yard and stable being in the rear. It was kept at
an early day by David Doebler and was a prominent place for shows
and dancin Xuring the annual “fairs” of that time. It was de-
stroyed by fire in June, 1828. A three-story brick house owned by
the heirs of Oliver Bellman at this date, 1878, now occupy the site of
this old hostelrie. Mr. Doebler afterwards removed to Second and
Walnut streets. Mr. Wormly kept it when the fire occurred. Michael
Krell at one time kept it.



62 . Notes and Queries.

A tavern was once kept in the white weather-boarded two-story
house on the west corner of Market Square by John Norton, and Mr.
A. M. Patterson had a dancing school there. Mr. Norton was a car-
penter by trade, and when repairing a scow at the river it fell down
on him and broke his leg, and he was taken home in a cart. It was
a serious accident in those days, prior to railway and machinery. It
would be a trifling accident now, {))ut it was remembered by one of our
aged citizens from his boyhoed. This house is yet remaining and
owned by the Calder estate. The bar room was where the office is
now. Here is where William Calder, Sr., commenced the livery busi-
ness in John Norton’s old log stable, which grew into the extensive
stage, packet boat and passenger car lines. Mr. Calder resided there
until his death.

The “ Pennsylvania Inn ” was owned and kept by John Kelker. It
was a two-story log and weather-boarded house, painted white,situated
on the west side of North Second street, near Walnut, with the stab-
ling on the corner. Mr. Kelker lived to an old age, and occupied it
until his death, but discontinued keeping tavern some years prior
thereto. He was a brother of Frederick Kelker, and left daughters—
Sabina, Rosunna and Louisa. The Kelkers were originally from Leb-
anon county. .

The “ King of Prussia” was located on the west corner of Second
and Walnut streets. It was a large two-story log and weather-boarded
house, painted yellow. The stable was on Second street, the side
being on the street, near Locust, and was built of stone. The pave-
ment from the house to the corner of Locust street as used was made
of cobble stone. The property belonged to Conrad Bombaugh. It
was kept by various amslords, among the number were M%lchior
Rahm and David Doebler. The “ King of Prussia ” was famous for
dances and shows. One of the ainusements practiced there by young
men was taking *“laughing gas.” It was considered a harmless way
of amusing themselves, some while under its influence making them-
selves quite ludicrous and creating great merriment. This tavern was
torn down by George Ileisley, and the present thres-story brick erected
by him. The remainder was subsequently owned by Jacob Buehler,
David and James Fleming, Robert A. {Jumbert.ou, Esq., and the
Young Men’s Christian Association.

The “Golden Lamb” was owned and kept by George Boyer, on
the west corner of Second and Locust streets. It was a large log and
weather-boarded house painted white. The stable was large, of brick,
and was on Locust street, the gables fronting the street. Mr. Boyer
did a large business with people from the upper part of the county.
He was what was called a portly man, of a goodly size, and was popu-

\
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lar as a landlord. It was the general stopping place for circus men,
and of course was a favorite place in the estimation of the boys. Cir-
cuses in those days were not attached to menageries as at present, but
traveled separate. When a circus company was at Boyer’s the per-
formers, dressed in their spangled costumes, left the tavern on horse-
back and rode through the streets, with a bugler in front and a clown
in the rear. This was done prasvious to each performance, and as a
consequence Locust street was filled with boys waiting for the troupe
to ride out of the stable.

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXVIII

KEeLLy.—Patrick Kelly, of Derry township, d. in 1769, leaving a
wife Rachel, and children as follows:
1. Rachel.
2. George.
1ii. Ann, m. ——- Fitzpatrick.
iv. Thomas.
v. James.
vi. Patrick.
vi. Mary, m. Duncan.

He mentioned in his will his grandson, Andrew Kelly. The Rev.
John Roan and John Hay were witnesses to the instrument. Patrick
Kelly bought fifty acres of land from Capt. Thomas Harris, and re-
sided at Conewago.

TROQUOIS INDIAN NAMES.

[A valued correspondent, who has given the subject of Indian
names his special study and research, sends us the following. The
reference to “ Standing Stone ” (Huntingdon) will interest our readers
on the Juniata.]

It is very difficult at the present time to get accurate definitions of
ancient Iroquois names, for several reasons. One, the uncertainty as
to the particular dialect in which the name appears; another reason
is, the original signification in many instances has been lost, and
Indians of the present generation, depending on the sound find great
difficulty in determining the roots and combinations. You are aware,
of course, that the Iroquois, like other Indian languages, is built up
of compound words, and names are always descriptive and losing
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the legend or tradition connected with the place they are liable to
lose the signification of the name, especially when incorrectly pro-
nounced.

To one familiar with the French language, a copy of Bruyas’
Aquiers Racines (Mohawk Root Word) will often be o? great aid in
-determining some names. Ior instance, you will find in Vol. xi.
Penna. Archives, on the map the naine ONANTANDAGO south of Os-
wayo and Honkove creeks. I know enough of the Iroquois to see
plainly in the first of these ONNoNTE “ hill” and in the termination
“place.” In reading Abbe Belmont’s account of the Denonville ex-
g:dition against the Senecas in 1687, I find him saying “many of the

necas fled beyond the great mountains of ONNONTAGUE which
separate them from Virginia and went to dwell in the country of the
ANDAsTOEZ and never returned.”

In remembering these two statements, and placing them together, I
make a discovery of a fact, an idea, and conclude the two names to
be identical. In taking up the study of La Salle’s expeditions, I find
in the “ Historie ” of Margry, i. 378, the following : “ Meanwhile M.
de la Salle continued his way on a “river which goes from east to west,
-and passes b&',ONONTAGUE,hen to six or seven miles below Lake
Erie,” &c ith the idea fixed in my mind of an Onnontague near
the Oswayo and Honeoye creeks, I have little difficulty in under-
standing what La Salle means, and yet Parkman, Shea, and all the
-scholars of the country mistakenly assign the Onontague of La Salle,
to the well known Onondaga, the great central town of the Onon-
.dagas, in Onondaga county; and stigimatize the writer of the Memoire
.as a blunderer for stating the fact o? a river flowing past Onondaga
from east to west, &c. In following up this clue, I find little trouble
in tracing the route of the great expﬂ)rer, a matter that has com-
pletely baffled all previous investigators. After ascertaining the pe-
-culiar characteristics of Oswayo and Honeoye streams, I find some
intelligent Iroquois to give an opinion as to the signification, and
.sometimes get a significant and correct definition.

Another case I know that an Iroquois tribe was located at pres-
sent Towanda, Pa., at an early date, say 1614. I know also that
-an Iroquois in speaking of another tribe whose language' they
-could understand, would call them ATIWANDARON, or RONK, giving
a strong nasal sound to the terminating syllable. I know also that
the first part A, is a Particle, and the termination, or suffix, signifies
scope or those and the root identical with the modern of Towanda.
The Attiwandaronk signifying a people who speak so as to be under-
stood. These names must be studiedp by some one having something
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of a knowledge of the several dialects and at the same time having a
knowledge of the striking characteristics of the places.

I will name one more as an illustration. I find on an early map
the name ONo-Yurra-HAGA on the west side of the Susquehanna,

just above your place. On examining Bruyas I find ONNE'Ja,

“stone” (p. 71), GANNIOT (p. 71) “ to e stuck up,” to be set up on end.
In compounding this we take from the first ONNE and from the second
Ior or N1or and we have ONNEIOUT “ a stone standing up,” or “ a slone
set up,” the national name of the Oneidas. Knowing this and also
the fact of standing stone, at present Huntingdon, I conclude the
name ONOYUTTA is the Iroquois name for that place,the Haaa being

ple in Mohawk, so we have for the whole word “ The Standin
ge“?“e People,” and probably Juniata is a corruption of this origina
name. :

YE OLDEN TIMES.—V.

TaE EARLY INNS OR TAVERNS OF HARRISBURG.

Taverns or'tT'hird Street.

A tavern was kept on the north corner of Third and Chestaut
streets many years ago by a Mr. Heckendorn and others. The house
was a large two-story log, weather-boarded one. The stable was on
Third street, of frame, with brick pillars supporting the roof, where
the open sheds were. As was usual, this house was popular for danc-
ing on “ Fair” days. The writer’s recollection of this location was
was when Samuel Bryan, Sr., resided there. The house then was
considerably above the pavement, say five or six feet, the street being

raded at some time. The stable was then used by Mr. George
%Volfersberger (brother of Philip) as a livery.

The “Globe Inn” was a large white frame two-story tavern on the
east corner of Third and Walnut streets. The stable was a large
frame building on Third street painted red. It waskept by Charles
Gleim at an carly day, und had several landlords afterwards, among
them being John Chase, whose daughter was the first wife of William
Parkhill. The opera house now stands on this property.

The “ Eagle Inn” was built and kept by John Buffington, at the
west corner of Third and Walnut streets, about 1821. Mr. Buffing-
ton only lived there a short time until he unfortunately became
financially involved, and the house was purchased by Jacob M. Halde-
man, who built an addition to it on Walnut street. Matthew Wilson,
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from Chambersburg, succeeded Mr. Buffington in 1823. The latter
was considered the prince of landlords, and had a great reputation.
This hotel was a stage house for Slaymaker’s “ Good Intent Line ” of
coaches, which ran from Pittsburgh to Philadelphia, via Carlisle,
Lancaster, &c. The stable of the hotel was a brick building on the
corner of Locust street, having the gable end on Third street. The
stables for the stages were on the corner of Walnut and Fourth
streets. Wilson’s hotel was the resort of most of the prominent men
of the State. He continued here until 1838, when he moved into the
large and spacious hotel on Market and Third streets, erected by him,
the Lochiel. Messrs. George Prince, Henry Omit and William G.
Thompson succeeded Mr. Wilson. The new post-office is upon the
site. ‘

NOTES AND QUERIES.—CLXXIX,

GaARBER'S MirLL.—During the Revolution, 1774 to 1787, John
Garber was the owner of the mill at Fort Hunter. In the spring of
the latter year he sold his land and improvements to Archibald Mc-
Allister, of Londonderry township.

SPONSLER, or SPINCEYLER.—Is the former the English of the latter?
Among the court records of 1779 we find that Andrew Sponsler or
Spinceyler, 'l,a;e of Clark’s creek, left a wife Christina, and children :

1. John.
1. Andrew.
114, George.
iv. Henry.

v. Rachel.
vi. Mary.

WrigHT.—James Wright, of Hanover township, died during the
Revolution. From a deed of release executed in 1793, we find the
following as his children :

1. Je'r‘r;ima, m. William Wharton, residing in Russell county,
a.

ii. Margaret, m. Robert MoCoy, residing in Pendleton county,
Va.
1ii. Jane, m. - Russell, residing in Orange county, N. C.

w. [4 dau.i], m. John Malcolm, and had John, Jr., residing in
Pendleton county, Va. .

v. Eleanor, m. James McMillen, residing in Turkey Foot,
Bedford county, Pa.
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WORTHIES OF THE CUMBERLAND VALLEY.

ALEXANDER, JOHN.

John Alexander was born about 1750 in Cumberland county. He
was a farmer by occupation. When the war of the Revolution broke
out, he became an active pnrticigmnt, and was in service during the
Jersey campaigns of 1776 and 1777. He commanded a company in
1778 on the expedition against the Indians on the West Branch, and
was a brave and efficient officer. After the war closed he was com-
missioned an officer of the militia, and rose to the rank of colonel.
He died at his farm in West Pennsboro’ township, Cumberland
county, on the 4th of August, 1804. The Gazetle thus alludes to his
character: “He lived universally beloved, and his loss to society is
much lamented for his character in every relation, and through the
various scenes of life was upright and unexceptionable.”

FiNDLAY, JOHN.
John Findlay, eldest child of Samuel Findlay and Jane Smith, his
wife, was born near Mercersburg, Cumberland, now Franklin county,
March 31, 1766. Although only in bis tenth year when the war of
the Revolution began, be%ore its close he was, although a mere strip-
ling, in active service on the frontiers. He became quite prominent
in public affairs, although he declined office in favor of his brother,
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